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STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

1956 No. 1210 ' 6 3 7
WEST AFRICA =
Tae NiGeRIA (TRIBUNALS OF INQUIRY) ORDER IN COUNCIL, 1’956'

Made. - - - - - 3rd August, 1956
' Laid before Parliament - -  3rd August, 1956
Coming into Operation, - - 4th August, 1956

At the Court at Arundel Castle, the 3rd day of August, 1956

Present:
The Queei’s Most Excellent Majesty in Council
Her Majesty, by virtue and in exercise of the powers in that behalf
by ‘the- Forelgn “Jurisdiction -Act, 1890(a), or otherwise in Her Majesty

vested, is pleased, by and with the advice of Her Privy Coundil, t6- order,
and it is hereby ordered as follows:—

1 —-(1) ThlS Order may be c1ted as the N1ger1a (Tnbunals of Inqulry) Citation

Order in Coungil, 1956. “commence-
(2) This Order shall come into opsrfation on the fourth day of Ig‘t’;t_ and
August, 1956. pretation.

(3) Save as is in this Order otherwise provided or required by the
contéxt, the Interpretation Act, 1889(b), shail apply for the purpose
of interpreting this Order as it applies for the purpose of interpreting
an Act of Parliament.

(4) In this Order “ Nigeria ” has the meaning assigned to it by
sub-section (1) of section 2 of the Nigeria (Constitution) Order in
Council, 1954(c).

2. Where a tribunal for inquiring in Nigeria into any matter is Application
appointed by a Secretary of State, the instrument by which the tribunal {’f N‘tgem“
is appointed, or any instrument supplemental thereto, may provide that tﬁgfmzls
any. or all of the provisions of the Commissions of Inquiry Ordinance(d) of inquiry
of ngerla, as from time to time amended, or any other law for the appomted by
time being in force in Nigeria relating to tribunals of inquiry shall apply - gcsfettary
in relation to that tribunal with such adaptations and modifications © tate

(if any) as the Secretary of State may specify in any such instrument.
W. G. Agnew.

(a) 53 & 54 Vict. c.37. (b) 52 & 53 V1ct c. 63.
(c) S.I. 1954/1146 (1954 II p. 2829).
(d) Laws of Nigeria, 1948 Revised Edition, Chapter 37, Vol. ], p. 375.

),
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This Note is not part of the Order; but is intended to 1nd1cate its -
general purport.) . : ‘

This Order provides that where a Secretary of State appomts a tribunal
of inquiry in Nigeria, the provisions of any Nigérian law relating to tribumals
of inquiry may be applied thereto w1th any_necessary adaptatlons :

(vi)
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‘ ‘ L)
WARRANT APPOINTING SIR STAFFORD FOSTER-SUTTON AND Omﬁlé a
INQUIRE INTO. CERTAIN MATTERS ‘CONCERNING NIGERIA. -

I, the Right Honourable ALAN TINDAL. LENNOX-BOYD Member of
Parliament, one of Her Majesty’s Prmc1pal Secretaries of State, by virtue and

in exercise of all powers enabling me in that behalf, do hereby direct -and
declare as follows:—

1. T HEREBY APPOINT Sir Stafford leham Powell Foster-Sutton nght
Companion of the Most Distinguished: Order of Saint Michael and Saint
George, Officer of the Most Excellent ‘Qrder of the British Empire, Chief
Justice of the Federation of Nigeria, and Sir. Joseph Henri Maxime de
Comarmond, Knight, Chief Justice of the High Court of Lagos and Chief
Justice of the High Court of the Southern Cameroons, and Vincent Akinfemi
Savage, Esquire, a ‘Chief Magistrate in the FEastéin Region of Nigeiia, at
present acting -as.a Judge of the High Court of that Region, and George
Forrest Saunders, Esquire, Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, Justice of the Peace, to be a Tiibunal of Inquiry for
%e purpose of inquiring ifto the matters set out in the First Schedule to this

arrant.

2. AND 1 FURTHER APPOINT Sir ‘Stafford ‘William. Powell Foster-Sutton to
be the Chairman of the said Tribunal of Inquity.’

3. I DIRECT that the Chairman may appoint a person to be the Secretary
of the said Tribunal of Inquiry and such other persons to assist the said
Tnbunal of- Inqulry as he may con81de1 necessary..

. 4. AND I FURTHER DIRECT that the Chairman and dny two of thé other
members of the said Tribunal of Inquiry shall form a quorum for the purpose

of discharging any of the functions (including therein reportmg) of the
Tnbunal

5. AND I FURTHER DIRECT, in pursuance of the powers vested in me by
the Nigeria (Tribunals of Inqulry) Order in Council, 1956, that the following
provisions of the Commissions of Inquiry Ordinance of Nigeria, as amended
by the Adaptation of Laws Order, 1954, and the Adaptation of Laws
(Judicial Provisions) Order, 1955, 1hat is to say, sub-section (3) of section 2,
section 5, section 6, section 7, section 8, section 9, section 10, section 11,
'section: 12, section 13, section 14, section 15, section 16, section 17, section 18,
section 19, section 20, and the Schedule thereto, shall -apply in. relation to the
said Tribunal of Inquiry subject to the adaptations and modifications set out
in the Second Schedule to. this Warrant.

6. Tmis Warrant, including the Schedules theréto, may be amended,
added to. or revoked by any furthér Warrant supplemental thereto under the
hand of one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State:

- GiveN under my hand this fourth day of August, 1956.

ALAN LENNOX-BOYD,

Her Majesty’s Principal
Secretary of State for the Colonies.

(vii)
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o . FIRST SCHEDULE

Matters: fo be iiiquired into by the Tiibunal of Tnguiry

- 1. Allegations. of improper cotiduct on the part of Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe,
Premier -of the Eastetn Region of Nigeria, in' connéction Wwith the affairs of
the African Continéntal Bank Limited. - - ‘ B

2. The circumstances in which securities, or the proceeds of securities,
belonging to the Eastern Regional Markéting Board were transferred to the
Eastern Region Finaiice Corporation and thé circumstancés in which such -
proceeds were invested in or deposited with the African ‘Continental Bank
Limited by the Eastern Region Finance Corporation. L

3. The relationship, direct or indirect, between Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe::and
the African Continental Bank Limited, its Directors, shareholders or officers,
at all times, whether before or after such investment or. deposit as aforesaid,
material to the circumstances as aforesaid. - S o

4. The relationship between the Eastern Region Finarice Corporation and
the African Continenital Bank Limniited at all material ‘times a$ aforesaid.

5. The relationship between any body or organisation, corporate or
unincorporate, in which Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe has or had at any matetial time
as aforesaid an interest, whether direct or indirect, and the African Continental
Bank Limited. ' ~ S .

6. The use made of the resources of the African Contifiental Bank Limited
whether before or after the investments and deposits reférred to in paragraph 2
were made, in so far as. any such use appears to the Tribunal to be material
for the foregoing purposes. : g T : :

7. Whether in respect of any of the aforesaid mattérs any person hol‘d,iné
Ministerial or other public office has infringed the standards of conduct
demanded of the holder of stch office and if so in what respect..

SECOND SCHEDULE

Adaptations. and modifications to the provis;iqns of the Commissions of
Inquiry Ordinance applied in relation' to the Tribunal of Inguiry )

1. For the references to the commissioners appointed- under thé Ordinance,
or to any such commissioner, there shall be substituted references to: the
Tribunal of Inquiry, or any. member of that Tribunal, as the case may require.

2. For the references to the Governor:Geneial of the Federation of
Nigeria or the Governor of a Region, as the case may be, other thdn-the
reference «to the Governor-General in subsection (2) of section 5 of the
Ordinance, there shall be substituted references to Her Majesty’s Principal
Secretary of State for the Colonies.

3. For the references to the :commissioners sitting in commission there
shall be substituted references to the Tribunal of Inquiry sitting as such.

4. For thq references to a commission issued under the Ordinance there
shall be substituted references to this Warrant, as from time to time amended,
and any further Warrant supplemental thereto.

(viii)
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3
Inquiry into- Allegations reflecting-on the Official Conduct of the Preﬁia 1(,
and certain other persons holding Ministerial and other Public Offices
in, the Eastern Region-of Nigeria | G .

_ REPORT OF THE TRIBUNAL APPOINTED BY A WARRANT OF APPOINTMENT
‘ . .': . DATED THE 4TH DAY OF AUGUST. 1956 - '

To The Right Honourable Alan Lennox-Boyd, P.C., M.P., Her Majesty’s
. ‘ . Principal Secretary of State for the Colonies - .

- We, Stafford Foster-Sutton, Chief Jiistice -of the Federation of Nigetia,
Joseph Henri Maxime' .de ‘Comarinoid, Chief Justiee of the High Coiirt of
Lagos and of the High Court of the Southern Cameroons, Vincent Akinfemi
Savage, Esquire, a Chief Magistrate in the Eastern Region of Nigeria, and
Geotge Forrest ‘Saunders, Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Fngland and Wales, Justice of the Peace in the City of Liverpool in the
County- of Lancaster, Were appointed to be a Tribunal, by Warrant of
Appointmént dated the foutth day of August, 1956, for .the purpose of
inquiring, inter dlia, into allegations of improeper conduct on the part of
Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe, Premier of the Eastern Region of Nigeria, in connection
with the African Continental Bank Limited, and whethef any person holding
Ministerial or other Public Office has infringed the standards‘ of conduct
demanded -of the holder of siichi office in connection with the investment of
funds of the Eastern Region Finance Corporation in,.and the transfer of funds
from that body to, the African Continefital Bark Limited. o
S G RO L ot

t
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CHAPTER 1
Nature of Allegations, Sittings and Procedure

1. From the evidence before us the allegations made against Di. Nnamdi
Azikiwe, by Mr. Effiong O. Eyo, formerly Chief Whip of the National Council
of Nigeria and the:Cameroons, the political party from which the Government
of the Eastern Region of Nigeria is formed, of which Dr. Azikiwe is the
Premier, and by the Leader and Members of.the Oppdsition in the Eastern
Region House of Assembly, shortly put, are, abuse of office and corruption
in connection with the deposit.and investment of public monies of the Eastern
Region in the African Continental Bank in which Dr. Azikiwe had a sub-
stantial pecuniary interést. ‘ : \ -

2. We had to consider how evidence could best be placed before us. In
view of the field to be covered by the investigation and the complex nature of
it we came to the conclusion that it would not meérely be inconvenient, but
physically impossible within a reasonable time for the Tribunal to. undertake
the task of collecting the evidence, taking statements from witnesses, and
examining thém upon their proofs. In these circumstancés we reached the
conclusion that the Inquiry could not be satisfactorily conducted without the
assistance of Counsel to place the facts before us and call the witnesses.
M. Brian MacKenna, Q.C.. Mr. W. A. B. Forbes (of Counsel) and Mr. Cyril
Russell, Solicifor, 4 Partrier in the firm of Solicitors, Messrs. Charles, Russell
&.Company, London, were accordingly retained by the Tribunal to assist in
that respect. Any person who appeaied to us to have such an interést in the
matters into which we were inquiring as to justify such representation we
allowed to be represented by counsel. Eleven persons or institutions were so
represented.

3. Every person whose conduct is the subject of comment in this report
was invited to give the Tribunal a statement and to appear before it and give
evidence.

4. In accordance with our Appointment we sat in public in the lower
portion of the Chamber of the House of Representatives, Lagos, on the
27th August, 1956, to decide questions of procedure and thereafter for a
further fifty days between that date and the 16th November, 1956, to hear
evidence and arguments. Thirty witnesses gave oral evidence before us and

one witness gave evidence by affidavit. A list of the witnesses is to be found at
Appendix “A.”

5. On the 3rd September, 1956, Mr. MacKenna, Q.C., opened the facts.
Thereafter he or Mr. Forbes called the witnesses and examined them in chief
in cases where the witness had given a statement to the Tribunal and cross-
examined them where they had not. In some instances the counsel who had
examined the witness in chief was then permitted to cross-examine him.
Counsel appearing for any person who might reasonably be said to have been
affected by the witness’s evidence was then given the opportunity of cross-
examining him, and in cases where the wituness giving evidence was represented
by counsel, his counsel was then given the opportunity of examining him. In
every case there was a final examination of the witness by counsel representing
the Tribunal, and in most cases questions were put to the witness by us. Of
the thirty witnesses called before us twenty gave statements to the Tribunal
before they were called.

6. As in the case of the Inquiry presided over by Mr. Justice Lynskey in
England, we conducted these proceedings on the footing that there was no

2
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issue between parties for the Tribunal to decide, and no defendant to be ‘tne;.
"The Tribunal was appointed to find the facts and give the answers to the
questions submitted 6 it. o

. -'7. The . ¢evidence of all persons who had knowledge of the transactions
concerned was obviously, relevant, but much -of it would not be, admissible in
the case of an individuial in proceedings against him or in litigation in which
he was concerned. In ¢oming to a conclusion as to the conduct of any
individual, and.in particular where. any . allegation of improper conduct has
been made, we have had regard only to such evidence as would piopetly be.
admitted in a case in which he was a party and his conduct was in question.

. 8. The proceedings were unavoidably protracted for a variety of reasons,
among them being the fact that many matters which appedred to all concerned
as important, in the éarly stages of the Inquiry, lost theif significance or
became relatively unimportaiit as the evidence unfolded.

9, Mr. Effiong Eyo impressed us-as béing a witness who was, by and large,
speakitig the truth 1n so far as heé saw ‘mattets. In view, however, of the
admitted antagonism between himself and Dr. Azikiwe and his late ¢olleagues
in the N.CN:C. Party, and his own admission that he was prepared to believe
anything bad aboiit Dr. Azikiwe; however flimSy ‘the evidence, we considered
that it would ‘be. unsafe to-rely upon his évidence unless it is corroborated or
made more probable by proved facts, and in réaching oui conclusion we have
been guided by that principle. - S ‘ t i

10. Owing to the extensive nature of the documentary evidence, for .con-
venience of feference, in the casé of the most important ones, we will quote
froin thé documents. themselves; and we will include in the appendices to this
_report, inter alia; condensed summaries of the principal accounts and other
findricial statements which appear to us to' be material.’

"11. We now ‘propase to: deal with events which led up to this. Inquiry,
as far as possible; in.chronological order; and for convenience of reference we
have included, as Appendix “B”, a short summary of evidence.

' CHAPTER II

Background of the African Conﬁxgehtal Bank Limited, and Df. Nnamdi
o + Azikiwe coiinection with it and the Associated Companies

;. 12. The African Continental Bank Limited was. originally incorporated
under the Companies ‘Ordinance on the 15th February, 1937, and was. then
known' as * Tinubu Properties Limited ”. Its original nominal capital was
£250 divided into fifty -Ordinary shares of £5 each. Its promoters and the
original Diréctors aie of no concern to theé subject matter of this Inquiry.

13. On the Qohth March, 1944, Dr. Azikiwe bought all the shares in: Tinubu
Properties Limited for the sum of £250. At that time the Company had
practically no assets, and the amount paid was by way of goodwill.

14. By a special resolution passed and confirnied on the 26th January,
1946, and the 9th February, 1946, respéctively, the name of the Company was
changed from “ Tinubu Properties Limited * to “ Tinubu Bank Limited ”*, and
at the same time the nominal capital was increased to £5,000 by the creation
of 950 new Ordinary Shares of £5 each. o

3
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'fS 'By ‘a.special resolution passed- and confirmed con- the., 15th. October;
1947 and the.29th October, 1947, respectively; the name. of the Company was
again changed from “ Tinubu Bank Limited ” to * African, ‘Continental. Bank
Limite? ”; and between- that date and August, 1949, the nominal caprtal of
the Bank was progressively increased until it becamie £250;000. dividéd. into
200,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each and 50 000 8% 'Cumulatlve Preference
shares of £1 each

.....

The secnons of that Ordmance relevant 10 the subject matter of thls Inqulry
read as follows:—

“3, (1) No bankmg business shall be ttansacted in Nigeria except by
a company, and any person who acts.in ¢ontravéntion of the provisiozis of
this sub-section shall be ‘Tiable on coniviction to a fine not exceedmg
ten pounds for every day during which thé offénce continues:

(2). The incorporation of a company which has, as its object, or one-of its
objects the carrying on. of banking shall not be reg1stered unless its nommal
capital isnot less than twenty-five thousand pounds. .

(3) The Reg1stra1 of Compames shall. niot certlfy that any company
which-has as its object or one of its. objects the carrying on of banking is
entitled to commence to-carty onbusiness.in accordance with the provisions
of section 88 of the Companies. Ordinance, unless its: nominalk capital shall
have been issued and paid up in cash to the. éxtent of at least twelve
thousand five hundred pounds, and it shall have comphed with the
provisions of section 6.of this Ordinance. .

- 6. (1) Save as hereinafter provided, no- company shall carry on bankmg
in Nigeria unless it holds a hcence 0ranted by the F1nanc1al Secretary in
such: behalf. .

(2) Every banking company in exrstence at the date of commencement
of this Ordinance shall, before the expiry of three months from such com-
mencemuent, and every other company shall, before commencing: banking

~ in Nigeria, apply in wrltmg to the Financidl Secretary for a, llcence under
this section: -

Provided that in the case of a banking company in exrstence at the date
of the commencement of this Ordinance, nothing in sub-section (1) of this
section shall be deemed to prohibit thé company from continuing to carry
on banking uatil it is granted a licence in pursuance of sub-section (2) of
this section, or is by notice in writing informed by the Financial Secretary
that a Ticence cannot be granted to it:

Provided further that the Financial Sécretary shall not give a notice as
aforesaid to a banking company in existence at the date of the commence-
ment of this Ordinance before the eéxpiry ‘of the period. of three years
referred to in sub-section (1) of section 5 of thls Ordrnance > .

The effect of the last proviso. to this sub-section.and. sect1on 5 of the Ordmance
is that ho such notice ¢ould be givén by the Financial Secretary to any bank in
existence.-on the date of the commencement of the Ordinance, that 1s to- say,
22nd May, 1952, until the expiry of three years thereafter. ; N

“(3) Before granting any licence under this séction, or at any timé ot
times after the granting of a licence, the Financial Secretary shall be
entitled to cause an iaspection of the books of the company to be made or
to call for such other information :as. he may think, fit in order to. satisfy
‘himself that the affairs of the company are not bemg conducted to the
detriment of the interests of its creditors. . .

4,
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" (6) In consideting. an- apphcauon for -a licence under this sectron, the -
—Fmancral Secretary shall have xregard to~—- v o

(1) the amount.of the bank’s hqu1d resources in relatlon to. 1ts 11ab1ht1es
‘to depositors and other creditors; .
(ii) the amount of it issued and pald-up caprtal
© (ii1) the amount of 1ts reserves, '

and-he shall not issug a licence under this sectron 1f in hlS oprnlon, the
. circumstances: render the issue of such licence undesirable in. the pubhc
interest. . ,

8. (1) Every bankmg company shall at all times malntam by way of
cash reserve such -amount as is necessary to ensure an adequate degree of
liquidity and to provide .adequate cash reserves against its commitments,
and the Fmanc1a1 Secretary may from tlme to tlme requlre the banking
out the ‘cash Teseive and the timé and demand ’hablhtles of the 'bankmg
company at a date specified by him. ~

(2) 1f it shall appear to the Finaiicial Secretary on examination of such

" statement that adequate cash reservés are fiot being maintained; he shall
direct that steps be taken to ificréase the-ratio of the :cash feserves to- the
demand‘ and time liabilities in such manner and within such time as.shall
‘be stated in the direction, and if Such direction is not fully complied -with
he may .at his discretion cancel any licence granted to the bank tnder
section 6 of this Ordinance.”

'17. On- the. 13th October 1953 the Fmanc1a1 Secretary, in reply 1o an
application by the Bank for a licence, addressed @ communication to the
General Manager of the Bank; which reads as follows: —

“I have the honour to refér to your Tettets No. HO/58/ 5/ 52 dated

30th August, 1952, and No. HO/58/9/52 dated 6th October, 1952, in which

" yow applied for Bankmg Licence and 6 inform you that your ar“’ ca-
tion has. recently been reyiewed by me. The present financial posi.on of
‘the African Continental Bank Limited; as. reflected in the statutory return
for-the. quarter ending;. 30th: June, is such that I am still unable to grant a
hcence to the bank under section. 6 of the Bankmg Ordmance No. 15, of

. 1952,

2. To enahle your apphcatlon to receive further consrdera’aon it will be
necessary for the bank to follow up the various points set-out below: —

(@) It is noted that the. ratio of cash reserves to timé and demand
liabilities, according to-your latest return, is 9-8 per cent. This is low
and, in my v1ew, quite 1nadequate It will be necessary for you to
take steps-to increase this ratio to a minimum of 30 per cent. within
the next six months. . :

(b) I shall be obliged if you will provide me with adequate information
as to the current value of the investments of the bank, including the
latest audited balance sheet of the companies in which the bank
holds shares or debentures.

() A copy of the latest audited balance sheet of the bank will
be required in raccordance with Section- 12 () of the Bankmg
Ordinance; 1952. t

“(d Tt will be ‘hecessary to complete ’the reconc1hat10n of the Inter-
Branch Account {your letters HHOJ58/31/52 dated 18th June, 1953,
and HO/58/15/53 dated 13th February, 1953, refer). -

5
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3. When the above points have been.:settled satisfactorily; I propose
to cause a formal inspection-of the books and documents of the African
Continental Bank to. be carried out in order to satisfy myself that the
affairs of the bank are not bemg conducted 10 the detnment of the interests
of its creditors.”

At that time Dr. Azikiwe was stiil activ_ely associated with. the Bank in his
capacity as “ Founder, Governing Director and Chairman ”

~ 18. On. ‘the 19th March, 1954, Mr. Biaiikson, the then Géneral Manager
of the Bank, addressed a circular letter to each of the fourteen branches of
the Bank, marked “ Strictly Confidential ”, which r°ads —

“ Dear Sir:

RESERVE OF L1QUID ASSETS.

We are drawing near the end of the financial year. As you are aware,
many returns covering -our banking transactions for the yeay will be
forwarded to the Government and, as we,have since emphasised, they
will be required to give an accurate picture of the. general situation of our
enterprise. As far as the accounting aspect is concerned, we have
endeavoured in the past to secure uniformity among branches and géared
our policy to the end of meeting the accounting requitemeénts of the
Banking Ordinance. The need for accuracy in branches’ Téturns cannot
therefore be overempha31sed

The main purpose of this letter- is to draw the timely attention of
branches to the absolute need for conserving siifficiéntly large réserves -of
liquid- assets (cash) at the end of March, particularly on the 31st March,
so- that our overall percentage of cash or hand to. the total of Current,
Deposit and Qther Accounts will, if not conform to the requirements -of
the Banking Ordinance, at least meet them half-way. To this end, branches
are adVISed. to conduct vigorous house to house camipaigns for cash
deposits by customers against the end of the month. Reliable and wealthy
customers should be especiaily approached to deposit, ever for one day
on the 31st March, a substantial suin of money which: can be withdrawn
by them as soon after that date as they -desire. In the course of the
campaigns for funds, special case should be taken to avoid playing into
the hands of those whose sole motive is to see the bank Tuined. Not an
inconsiderable number of them are customers, and their intrusion should
be vigilantly guarded against.

Branch managers are reminded of their respon51b1hty in this important
subject. Their future will depend largely upon the measure of efforts
directed towards accumulating substantial -cash balances on the day in
question, for the purpose of our Statutory Returns. Redoubled efforts
should also be employed to treat all outstanding entries in the Inter-
Nigerian Branches Account before the end of the month .so that all
adjustments may be taken into the books. ,

Please acknowledge receipt.

Sincerely yours, .
A. K. BLANKSON,
- General Manager.”

The object of that letter was, no doubt, to ensure that the balance sheet of
the Bank as at the 31st March, 1954, which Mr. Blankson knew would be
the last oné available before the expiry of the three years of grace allowed
by the Ordinance, 22nd May, 1955, presented as favourable a position as
possible bearing in mind the Financial Secretary’s requirement that the ratio
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of cash_reserves to tme and. demand- liabilities should ‘be a minimum of
'30 per cent o L S o

19, At this ]uncture it seéms to us relevant t0 obserVe that Dr.- Azﬂqwe
has, oii more. than-ofie ‘0ccasion, ‘placed on record the fact that the African
‘Continental Bank - was-founded prlmarﬂy to ﬁnance ‘the activities: of the
Zik Gioup’ whilst at the 'samé-time protectmg the intérests of the pubhc 50
far as it is compatible with banking practice.”

©.0..20: At the-end of 1953; ‘thatis. to. say; immediately’ before Dr. Azikiwe
_-became a, Minister, of State,he and members of his. famﬂy held the followmg
shares in the Bank:=-.. . _

Dr. N. Azikiwe .. | ... 28,000 £1 Ordmary shares ‘

Mss. C. E. Arinze (his s;ster) 4,000 do. © do. -
MlSS E. O. Arinze (a niece) .. o 4,000 . do, L do. ..
‘Miss V. I. Arinze (a niece) .. 4000 - do. . doi
Mr.-Q. C: Azikiwe (his father) e 40()0 © do. “hde.
Mr J. O. Nwosisi (a cousin) .. 100° = do. ° do

Mrs. C. E. Arinze, Mr. O. C. Azikiwe and Mr. J. O. Nwosisi were Directors
of the Bank. In addition the following shares in the Bank were held by
Compames in the “Zik Group S

Zik Enterpnses, L, .. . 49,9()0 £1- Ordinary ‘shafes.
" African Book Co., Ltd. . 2,000 ~do. = do.-
Nigerian Papér Co Ltd. .. o 2000 - do. - do:
"Nigerian Prinfing Supply Co., Ltd... 2,000 do. - do.

-: Dr. Azikiwe held an effective interest of 44-9 per cent. in Zik Enterprises
Limited, 45 per cent. in the African Bdok Company Limited, 45:4 per cént.
in the ngenan Paper Company Lirited, and 63 per ¢ent. in-the Nigerian
Prmtmg Supply Company Limited. To the extent, theiefore, of his effective
interest in these Companies Dr. Azikiwe held that further stake in the African
Contmental Bank ,

-21.°A Tist of the principal shareholders as at 3lst March 1955 and
31st July, 1956, is to be found in Appendices *“C” and “ D;” respectzvely

CHAPT ER III

Emancml Hnstory of the Afncan ‘Continental Bank Lumted and the Zlk
Gmup of Companies '

- 22. Append1x “E” contains a statement, setting out in condensed form
the ‘balance shéets of the Bank for the seven years 1950-1956, from which
it will be scen-that there was a steady growth of deposits during that period,
but a very much slower growth in paid up capital until a substantial
investment was made in the Bank by the Finance Corporation in 1955.

-+ 23, Throughout  the perrod 1950-1955 the capital of the Bank was
madequate 16 cover the cost of establishifig and building up the business, and
it'was ‘necessary to have recourse to customers® deposits to. enable this to be
done. This is zeflected in the Iosses which accumulated throughout that period,
with an excegtlonal increase in the year ending 31st March, 1955, due to'a
imore conservative view. havmg been taken at that date ef the reahzab]e value
ot the Toans-and -advances.- .
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24. Tt is not possible to indicate a true trend of ‘thelosses during this period
as extraneous items were included in the accounts of each year. In partlcular
the year ending 31st March, 1954, included the.receipt of twe and a half years’
interést on. the debentures amounting to £12,627, and a charge for establish-
ment expenses of £9,157, relating to earlier years, whilst the heavy provision
for bad and doubtful debts made in. 1955 should have been spread over earhex
years.

25. Included w1th the Toans is an amount-of £205 ;000 which. in the balance
sheets is described as an investment. This relates fo- -advances which were made

by
. P « . ' . 4 £
Zik ‘Enterptises Lml.ted 135,000
Comet Press Limited vt ees 5,000
Nigerian Printing Supply Company L1m1ted PR 15,000
Nigerian Real Estateé Corporation anted T, 50, 000
205,000

secured by debentures ‘charged upon land and machinéry, in many instances
belonging to third parties, and repayable in 1971. Interest on these debentures
is at.the rate of 2 per cent. in some instances and 3 per cent. in others. This
favourable rate ‘of borrowing money can only be-tegarded as another aspect
of the close relationship which applied between the Bank and the Zik Group
of Companies,

- 26. In addmon to the amounts owing under these debentures, the Zik
Group- of Companies were further indebted to the Bank to the extent of
£112, 173 at 31st March, 1955, and £162,402 at 31st March, 1956, secured by
guarantees of third parties. ‘

27. Appendlx “F sets out a summary of the profits and losses of the
Companies in the Zik :Group for the four years ending in 1955. It was stated
in evidence that Zik Enterprises Limited (at that time known as Zik’s Press
Limited) had earned profits and paid dividends during the period 1948 to 1949.
During subsequent years almost continuous losses were incurred by most of
the Companies which accumulated to a figure in excess of their issued capital.
It is not, we think, irrelevant to point out here that having regard to the close
relationship of the Zik Group of Companies with the African Continental
Bank, tllx(ese losses constituted an additional drain on the liquid resources.of
the Ban :

28. The real capital-invested in the Group is less than half the' figure of
£63,602 (shown in Appendix “F”) as inter-company holdings amounted to
£30,467, and Dr. Azikiwe’s holding of £4,695 in the Nigerian Rea]l Estate
Corporation was merely charged to his loan account with that Company and
did not represent any increase of capital.

29. At Appendix “C” we have set out the principal shareholdings in the
African Continental Bank at 31st March, 1955, from which it will be seen that
almost the whole of the unpaid capital relates to shares held by Dr. Azikiwe
and his family and the Companies of the Zik Group. The majority of the
other shareholders were called upon to pay for their shares in full. Dr. Azikiwe
stated in evidence that he had given Mr. Blankson instructions that certain
shareholders, mostly members of his family, were only to be called upon to
pay 1s. in the pound.
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30. ‘We should, however, say that not all Dr. Azikiwe’s sharesgirg glrtly
paid as those originally purchased by him in Tinubu Properties Limited in
1944 were fully paid, but it is not possible from the records of the Company to
determine how much has been paid up on any one share. The amount shown
in the Appendix, therefore, indicates the sum paid in respect of the total
holding of each shareholder.

31. Although Dr. Azikiwe had, by his own holding and through the shares
owned by the Zik Group of Companies, & major interest in the Bank, on the
basis of capital invested, the voting power he controlled was greater still, as
under the Articles of Association each ordinary shareholder was, and still is,
entitled to one vote per share irrespective of whether it was fully paid or not.

CHAPTER 1V

General Election, 1953, Dr. Azikiwe becomes a Minister of State, Eastern
Region, discloses his business interests to the Lieutenant-Governor and
resigns his Directorships

32. Towards the end of 1953 there was a General Election in the Eastern
Region which was won by the National Council of Nigeria and the Cameroons
Party (N.CN.C), and early in January, 1954, Dr. Azikiwe, as National
President and Leader of the Party, was appointed “Leader of Government
Business and Minister of Local Government” by the then Lieutenant-
Governor, Sir Clement Pleass, and invited to form a Government.

33. During the course of the interview on that occasion, Dr. Azikiwe. who
was aware of ths contents of a despatch from the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, dated 1st December. 1951. which formulated certain principles to
be observed by persons appointed to Ministerial Office in relation to their
personal and private interests (Appendix “ G ™), in answer to a question put
to him by the Lieutenant-Governor, fully disclosed the Directorships and other
interests held by him in the Bank and the Zik Group of Companies.

34. After his appointment as a Minister of State Dr. Azikiwe, on the
30th January, 1954. resigned from the offices of Chairman and Governing
Director of the African Continental Bank, and from his Directorships in the
Zik Group of Companies. The letters of resignation read as follows: —

“ January 30, 1954
The Secretary,
African Continental Bank Limited,
76 King George Avenue,
Yaba, Nigeria.

Dear Sir:

Please accept this letter as my resignation from the offices of Chairman
and Governing Director -of your Company.

The effect of this resignation is intended to be immediate, in view of
my appointment as a Minister in the service of the Eastern Government,
following the results of the lcst general elections to the Eastern House of
Assembly. 4

1 have in the meantime appointed Mr. Adoiphus Xofi Blankson, also
a Director of the Company, to act in my stead and te exercise all powers
and enjoy all privileges appertaining to these offices excepting that of
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Sharéholder, until your Company has had opportunity to make tecessary
arrangements in accordance with your Memorandum and Articles of
Associatioi.
Sincerely yours,
NNAMDI AZIKIWE,

Founder, Governing Director and Chairman.”

“January 30, 1954

The Secretary,

African Book Comipany Limited,

African News Agency Limited,

Associated Newspapers of Nigeria Limited.
Comet Press Limited,

Nigerian Commodities Limited,

Nigerian Paper Company Limited,

Nigerian Printing Supply Company Limited.
Nigerian Real Estate Corporation Limited,
Suburban Transport Limited,

West African Pilot Limited,

Zik Enterprises Limited,

34 -Commercial Avenue,

Yaba, Nigeria.

RESIGNATION OF DIRECTORSHIPS

Dear Sir:

Please accept this letter as my resignation from the offices of Chairman
and Director of the above-named Companies.

The effect of this resignation is intended to be immediate, in view of
my appointment as a Minister in the service of the Eastern Government,
following the results of the last general elections to the Eastern House of
Assembly.

I have, in the meantime, appointed Mr. Adolphus Kofi Blankson, who
is also a Director of these Companies, to act in my stead and to exercise
all powers and enjoy all privileges appertaining to- these offices, excepting
that of Shareholder, until these Companies have had opportunity to make
necessary arrangements in accordance with their Memoranda and Articles

of Association.
Sincerely yours,

NNAMDI AZIKIWE,
Chairman and Director ”

and on the same date he executed an instrument appointing Mr. Adolphus
Kofi Blankson to be Governing Director and to act as Chairman of the
Bank in his stead. The instrument reads:—

“ APPOINTMENT OF GOVERNING DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN AND TRANSFER
OF INTEREST RIGHTS PRIVILEGES ETC.

Consequent upon the successful outcome of the Eastern elections and
to my appointment as a Minister, necessitating a declaration of my interest
in the Company, which I had done to the Lieutenant-Governor of the
Eastern Region, I, Nnamdi Azikiwe, Founder, Governing Director and
Chairman of the African Continental Bank Limited, hereby appoint you,
Mr. Adolphus Kofi Blankson, of 27 McNeil Road, Yaba, to be Governing
Director and to act as Chairman -of the said Company.
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Furthermore, I hereby appoint you to act in the said :capacitieg 1% le
stead and to exercise all the powers appertaining thereunto .and .to enjoy
all the privileges and rights accruing thereto. ‘

I furthér transfer to you all my intérests in the said Company, excepting
that of Shareholder, on the understanding that this authority shall remain
valid so long as I continue to be a Minister of State or the Company is
otherwise reorganised or sold.

.Dated at Yaba this 30th day of January, 1954.
NNAMDI AZIKIWE,
Founder, Governing Director and Chairman.”

35. -On the 1st October, 1954, the new Nigerian Constitution came into
force and Dr. Azikiwe became Premier of the Eastern Region.

CHAPTER V
N.C.N.C. Party Policy in regard to Banking

36. The original policy of the N.CN.C. was, upon attaining self-
government, to nationalise all banks in Nigeria. In the meantime, since
legislation on banks and banking is a subject exclusively reserved to the
Federal Legislature under the Constitution, the policy formulated by the
Government of the Eastern Region is stated to be based on thé following
principles: — .

“(1) To discourage monopoly of monetary transactions by any one bank;
(2) to liberalise credit facilities for Nigerian entrepreneurs;
(3) to encourage the development of indigenous Nigerian banking;
(4) to plan for the eventual establishment of a State bank;”

and in their Manifesto for the Federal elections of 1954 the policy is further
amplified by the following passages appearing therein:—

“ Banking. Although the N.C.N.C. believes in the development and
expansion of Nigerian banking, yet it is uncompromisingly opposed to the
use of such Banks for the furtherance of party interest, particularly where
public funds form part of its resources.

The N.CN.C. would found state Banks to .finance Commerce and
Industry as a matter of business; such Banks to be controlled by Boards
appointed by the Federal and State Governments. Such Banks will co-
operate with the Agricultural and Co-operative Banks as well as Finance
Corporations. A Federal Bank of Nigeria, with over-all -control of all the
banks and Finance Corporations will also be created.”

37. In December, 1954, as one step in the process of giving effect to this
policy, the Eastern Region House of Assembly enacted the Eastern Region
Finance Corporation Law, 1954, the date of commencement of which was
fixed as 1st February, 1955. That Law vested the Finance Corporation with
power to finance agricultural, trading, commercial and industrial projects by
granting loans or subsidies or by the taking up of loan or share capital in any
government agency, statutory corporation, local government body, co-operative
society, or limited liability company. '

38. Before its introduction into the House of Assembly the measure
required the approval of the Eastern Region Executive Council, and it was

11
50963 c2

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online.
Copyright (c) 2006 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved.



Lo | |
brought before that body at a meeting held on the 11th December, 1954, when
it was approved subject to the following express limitation :—

“ Agreed that it should be understood that Council had approved the
text of the Bill only on the understanding that, when it became Law, the
Minister of Finance should exercise the powers it conferred upon him
only in consultation with and with the approval of Executive Council.”

- 39. A good deal of argument was addressed to us by Counsel as to the
legality or otherwise of the restriction placed by thé Executive Council upon
the exercise by the Minister of Finance of the powers conferred upon him
by the Law, but we are satisfied that there is no legal impediment to a
“ gentleman’s agreement ” (as it was referred to at the hearing) of this nature.

40. That the gentleman’s agreement was understood and accepted, both
by the Minister of Finance, Mr. Ojike, and the Premier, is abundantly clear
from passages in speeches made by them in the Eastern House of Assembly
on the 14th December, 1954, which read:—

“ The Minister of Finance—

Although named by the Bill as the sole authority, he is, of course,
under the Constitution personally responsible to Executive Council for
his actions. In all important matters he would, of course, seek and act
on the advice of Executive Council. If he did not do so he would not
remain a Minister for long. Moreover, the Minister’s acts can always be
the subject of discussion in Executive Council, and Executive -Council can
give instructions to the Minister which he must obey or resign.”

“The Premier—

Having clarified this point, may I join issues with my friend, when he
mentioned that clause 14 of the Bill has given the Minister excessive
powers. With respect, Sir, I submit that this was lifted by us from .a model
legislation, which is based on the practice in the United Kingdom. By this
I do not mean that because any practice is prevalent in Britain, therefore,
it is a paragon of perfection; what I want to point is that it was drafted
by the Chief Legal Adviser of the Colonial Office, and it has been
incorporated in the Northern Region Marketing Board Law, the Western
Region Marketing Board Law, and also the Eastern Region Marketing
Board Law, which we passed here, last October.

As my friend knows, the present Constitution has given Ministers
responsibility with power. It is no use giving Ministers responsibility
without power. My friend, the honourable Minister of Finance has given
assurance that powers vested in him by this law will not be exercised
without consulting his colleagues and obtaining their consent. After all,
they will have to defend him here in case anything goes wrong.”

41. The only indigenous banks operating in the Eastern Region at the
:end of 1954 and early in 1955 were the African Continental Bank and the
‘National Bank of Nigeria. The latter had only one branch there. On the
-other hand, the African Continental Bank had five branches in the Region,
and we are satisfied that the obvious vehicle for the N.CN.C. to select in
giving effect to their policy of supporting an indigenous bank was that one.
In any event, we are of the opinion that it would be unreasonable to have
expected them to select the National Bank of Nigeria because, apart from the
fact that it only had one branch there, it was an institution backed by the
Action Group, the Party from which the Government of the Western Region
i?i formed, which is the major party in opposition to the N.C.N.C. in that
Region. : - .
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Deposit of £30,000 by the Eastern Region Production Development Board
-in the African Continental Bank and matters relevant thereto

42. Mr. Effiong Eyo gave evidence that towards the end of November,
1954, Dr. Azikiwe asked him to use his good offices in persuading the
Production Development Board to deposit a substantial sum of money in the
African ‘Continental Bank. He said that several sums were mentioned among
them being £30,000, and that, pursuant to Dr. Azikiwe’s request, at a meeting
held by the Board on the 2nd December, 1954, he made a proposal that the
Board should resolve to open current and fixed deposit accounts with the
African Continental Bank, Enugu, of £5,000 on current account and £25,000
on fixed deposit. The minates of that meeting disclose that the proposal was
made and that it was carried, eight members voting for it, three against, and

one abstaining. '

43. Dr. Azikiwe denied that he ever had the conversation alleged by
- Mr. Eyo, but we are satisfied that it took place. :

44. At this juncture we think it relevant to refer to a letter dated 2nd
November, 1954, addressed to the General Manager of the African Continental
Bank, by Mr. Colin Obih, the Head Office Accountant of the Bank. That
document is exhibited to an affidavit made by John Alphonse Holt, Chairman
of John Holt and Company (Liverpool) Limited, and a Director of Martins
Bank Limited, which was put in evidence by Dr. Azikiwe’s Counsel, and reads
as follows: —

“ African Continental Bank Limited,
November 2, 1954.

The General Manager,

African Continental Bank, Ltd.,

Head Office,

Yaba. . Strictly Confidential.
Dear Sir,

n REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PoOSITION

The following is fthe position of the bank on October 15, 1954 : —

£

1. Demand Liabilities 598,719
2. Time Liabilities ... 55,614
' Total Liabilities e 654333
Liquid Asset (Cash) ... .. .. .. 35000

Demand Liabilities are public deposits payable on demand. Time Liabilities
are Fixed Deposits. More than 1/5 of these time liabilities will be payable
lqefqre or on December 31, 1954. That is £11,000: The present figure of
liquid asset represents less than 6 per cent. of demand liabilities and less
than 5 per cent. of total liabilities.

The liquidity of the bank is therefore in a very dangerous position. The
figure of liquid asset has since been reduced considerably. It must have
gone down by about % ‘after October 15, the date at which the present
statistics were. computed. A very serious financial crisis looms ahead. The
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e"‘l%‘z'fnék has had similar crisis in 1952 and 1953 between October and January.
During these two periods the percentages of liquid assets were approxi-
mately: 10 per cent. and 11 per cent. respectively and yet there were crises.
Contrasted with the present awfully low figure of less than 6 per cont., the
graveriess of the situation and the possible consequences can ue better
imagined than described.
To put the position more succinctly, I subjoin in a tabular form the
positions of the most important branches-of the bark and those upon which
demands during the above four months’ period are usually heéavy :

Demand Cash

Liabilities Holding
£ £
1. Yaba ... 151,399 700.
2. Kano 88,834 1,613
3. Jos 66,038 3,773
4. Aba 51,991 3,199
5. Lagos ... 52,073 189
6. Onitsha ... 48,615 3,172
7. Port Harcourt ... 36,774 2,981
8. Calabar ... ‘e 30,594 1,015
9. Ibadan ... 15,218 600
541,536 17,242

Head Office Central Reserve Account has been reduced to only £2,401.
This is woefully inadequate to meet emergency calls for financial aid from
branches. '

Before the end of October, we received advice from our London Agents
that our balance with themi was only £25 and that oustanding payment
instructings from branches amounted to £952. We ordered for cash
remittances to London from Branches. At the time-of this review advices
received from branches showed that only £750 had been remitted to
London. This means that payment instructions to the tune of £202 were still
outstanding. Just as this review is being prepared, there is another tele-
graphic advice from our Enugu branch that the Nigerian Engineering &
Manufacturing Co., Ltd., their customers, have ordered a transfer of £8,000
to London. Enugu branch could remit cash cover of only £2,000. It is most
probable that this payment instruction cannot be executed usless funds
from sources outside the bank are obtained.

It is needless to stress that our reputation, locally and overseas, is at
stake in view of the present happenings. A run on the bank is predicted
before or immediately after the end of November, unless financial aid to the
tune of £30,000 is received before Decembeér 15, 1954. This figure will bring
the percentage of the bank’s liquidity to approximately 11 per cent., basing
the computation on the. total demand liabilities of the bank at October 15,
1954. The figure when added to the present cash holding will by no means
avert crisis, but it will merely prevent the crisis assummg dangerous
‘proportions.

Sincerely yours,
COLIN CRIH,
‘ Head Oftice Accountant.”
14

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online.
Copyright (¢) 2006 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved.



45. There is 1o evidence before us to prove that Dr. Azikiwe eﬁi&5 or
received a copy of Mr. Obih’s letter which according to Mr. Blankson, General
Manager, of the Bank, was sent by him to Mr. Holt, but we are satisfied from
the surrounding circumstances that he was aware of the situation disclosed
by it

46. The question of the deposit of £30,000 by the Production Development
Board in the African Continental Bank was then submitted to the Executive
Council of the Eastern Region for its approval, and it came before that body
at a meeting held on the 13th December, 1954, presided over by Mr. C. J.
Mayne, CM.G., who was then the Officer Administering the Government.

47. In the early stages. of his evidence before us, Dr. Azxklwe was asked
whether he had taken any part in the Executive Council discussion regarding
the deposit of the £30,000 at that megting, and he stated most positivély that
he had not. Counsel for the Tribunal questioned him very closely on this
subject, and it was not until manuscript notes taken at the meeting by Mr.
Saville, the then Clerk of the Executive Council, which Dr. Azikiwe was not,
up to that stage, aware existed; were produced that he modified his position
regarding the part he had played».

48. Since what took place at the Executive Council meeting of the 13th
December has an important bearing on several aspects of this matter, the
whole of Mr. Saville’s manuscript notes taken at ‘that ‘meeting are reproduced
in Appendix “H,” but the followmg passage 'gives an indication of the
important part played by -Dr. Azikiwe in the discussion:—

“ AZ. The Bank is not licetised. But nothing in the Ord. to prevent
it being a depasitory of funds. When last in Lagos I saw the Gen. Manager
of the Bank. They had interview with Fin. Sec. They were given to end of
Jan. 1956 to satisfy conditions of Ord. They told Fin. Sec. that it was their
intention to ask British. Bank 10 take cover Managing Agency of the Bank
—Do not press me for the name. Two banking orgs. were interested—one
British—the other German, The Af C. Bank chose the British one. 50 as
to avoid international -complications. Did not give further details to Fin.
Sec. He gave Bank up to end of Jan. to satisfy requirements.

Bank cannot come in for penalties until later. Main point—the non-
licensing of the Bank cannot prevent Bank from becoming financial

- depository. If it were no new Bank ever could be licensed. Agemy
interested in acquiring both share and loan capital.”

9. We have no doubt that Mr. Saville was a witness of truth, and we
galned a clear impression that his manuscript notes had been carefully and
correctly kept and that, in addition, he had a clear recollection of what actually
took place. Conﬁrmatlon that Dr. Azikiwe did take part in the discussion is
alsoto be found in the Executive Council minutes of the meeting held on the
20th June, 1956, paragraph (d) of which refers to the meeting when the deposit
of £30,000 was considered, and coiitaids the following passage:—

“it was not until towards the end of the discussion that the Premier
answered questions clarifying certain points raised.”

.All the relevant Executive Council minutes were put in evidence.

50. The upshot of that Executive Council meeting was that Mr. Mayne
declined 10 agree to-the deposit of the £30;000 until he had had an opportunity
of considering a report on the Bank from the Federal Financial Secretary, for
which he indicatéd his intention of calling.
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Q5 li’The Financial Secretary’s Report was duly received by Mr. Mayne and
the matter was again referred to the Executive Council at a meeting held. on
the 30th December, 1954.

52. If is in evidence that Mr. Mayne showed the Report to Dr. Azikiwe
before that meeting and that the former read the pertinent ” parts of the
Report to the meeting, and handed Dr. Azikiwe a copy of it after the meeting
was over.

53. A copy of the Financial Secretary’s Report is to be found at Appendix.
“J,” but since they are of particular importance we set out here paragraphs 6
and 7, which read:—

“ 6. The balance sheet to the 31st March, 1953, which was published
in the press on the 25th of February, 1954, indicated to the Financial
Secretary that the Bank requires further capltal and the Bank has been so
advised.

7. On the 8th December the General Manager of the Bank saw the
Financial Secretary and stated that negotiations were now near to-finality
for amalgamation of the Bank with a U.K. banking house. This arrange-
ment would involve a large injection of UK. capital and a full audit by
a UK. firm of chartercd accountants, appointed by the U.K. banking
institution, would be carried out. Representatives of this. firm would begin
work in Nigeria in January next and the General Manager was prepared to
state categorically that there would, by the end of January, 1955, be a large
increase in the paid up capital :of the Bank sufficient to put it"on a
thoroughly sound footing. The Financial Secretary stated he was prepared
to accept the promises made and he looked forward to receiving next
January evidence that the Bank’s affa1rs had been restored to health as a
result of the pending reorganisation.”

54. During the course of his evidence before us, Mr. Blankson, Dr.
Azikiwe’s nominee as Governing Director and acting Chairman of the African
Continental Bank, repeatedly denied ever having discussed any of the affairs
of the Bank or the Zik Group of Companies with Dr. Azikiwe after the latter
had resigned from those concerns on the 30th January, 1954. Indeed, he
stated that on one occasion when he attempted to mention a matter connected
with one of the Companies, Nigerian Commodities Limited. Dr. Azikiwe
practically turned him out of his office, on the footing that it was improper
for a Minister of State to have any such discussion; -and in the early stages
of his evidence before us Dr. Azikiwe took the same liné. On one occasion
he said “I did not discuss this matter or any affair of the Bank with him,”
and again “ I do not mind his commg .on social visits, but to discuss banking
business, I do not like so muc

55. As we have already said, this attitude was persisted in by Dr. Azikiwe
until extrinsic evidence became available which made further adherence to
that story untenable, and he then said that what he had really intended to
convey was that he had never discussed day-to-day management affairs with
Mzr. Blankson, as distinct from matters of high policy. In fairness to Dr.
Azikiwe, however, it is a fact that in the proof of his evidence he gave to the
Tribunal hefore he went into the witness- box, he said “From that time
onwards I took no part either directly or indirectly in the management of
the affairs of the Bank ” (seeming to draw a distinction between management
and matters -of policy). We feel, however, bound to- observe that, in our
opinion, Dr. Azikiwe was being less than candid with us in the early stages
of his evidence. No doubt Mr. Blankson’s categorical denial that he was ever
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able to. discuss any business matters with Dr. Azikiwe placed the latﬁr nZ
difficult position.

56. One example of the extrinsic evidence is the passage in Mr. Saville’s
manuscript notes of the Executive Council meeting of the 13th December
which makes it cleat that Df. Azikiwe had seen Mr. Blankson (ieferred to as
General Manager of the Bank) in Lagos and been informed by him of his
interview with the Financial Secretary on the 8th December regarding the
Bank, referred to in paragraph 7 of the Finarcial Secretary’s Report which
has already been reproduced here.

57. Before us Mr. Blankson denied ever having told the Financinal
Secretary that there was ever any question of “amalgamation of the Bank
with a UK. banking house.” A copy of the minutes of the meeting was,
however, sent to Mr. Blankson, and the portions with which he did not agree
are indicated in the reply, dated 10th January, 1955, signed by Mr. Obih, “the
Head Office Accountant, and it contains no- correction on the point. We do
not accept the explanation given by. Mr, Blankson and Mr. Obih of their
failure to make such an important correction, and are of the opinion that
paragraph 7 of the Financial Secretary’s Report contains an accurate account
of the representations made by Mr. Blankson at the meeting on the 8th
December, 1954. -

58. At this stage it is, we think, relevant to observe that Mr. Blankson’s
representatlons to the Financial Secretary that:—

“negotiations were now near to finality for the amc.loamabon o“ the
Bank with a U.X. banking house. This arrangement would involve a large
injection of UK. capital and a full audit by a UK. firm of chartered
accountants, appointed by the UK. banking institution, would be carried
out. Representatives of this firm would begin work in Nigeria in January
next and the General Manager was prepared to state categorically that
there would, by the end of January 1955, be a large increase in the paid-up
capital of the Bank sufficient to put it on a thoroughly sound footing.”

were untrue, and we are satisfied beyond doubt that Dr. Azikiwe knew them
to. be false when the Financial Secretary’s Report was discussed in Executive
Council on the 30th December, 1954.

59. Mr. Blankson assured us that he had been given the informatiéon ke
passed on to the Financial Secretary either by Mr. Ojike, Minister -of Finance,
or by Mr. Ojukwu, a leading Nigerian business man who accompanied Dr.
Azikiwe on an Economic Mission abroad in 1954. Both these witnesses denied
this, and Mr. Blankson was quite unable to explain to us, when invited to
do so, firstly, why he, the acting Chairman and Governing Director of the
Bank, should have had to be told by them this important news, and secondly,
how they could possibly have come by it.

60. At that juncture the only contact that any representative of the
African Continental Bank had had with any United Kingdom banking
institution was a casual conversation that Dr. Azikiwe had with Mr. J. A.
Holt and others after a luncheon which was given for Dr. Azikiwe and
Mzr. Ojukwu (during the course of their Economic Mission in the middle of
1954) by the Directors of Martins Bank Limited, when, according to Mr. Holt’s
affidavit,

- “Dr. Azikiwe mentioned for the first time that he was interested in the
African Continental Bank Limited, an organisation which did not have
a very liquid Balance Sheet. He asked casually, whether we thought there
was any possibility of an English Joint Stock Bank coming to its assistance
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¥-With funds or management. He told us that the reason for his. question was
that some of his colleagues in the Eastern Region Government were
pressing him to use the Bank as a depository of Government funds.”

Véry flimsy material, or o it seems to. us, ipon which to base Mr. Blankson’s
assertions to the Financial Secretary.

61. Dr. Azikiwe’s only comrments, at the Executive Council meeting of
the 30th December, 1954, as disclosed by 'Mr. Saville’s manuscript notes, weére
“1 do not want to contribute to discussion” and, referring to the Financial
Secretary’s Report, “did help—it confirmed much of what was said here.”
1t is clear, therefore, that Dr. Azikiwe allowed the false information to stand,
presumably in his anxiety that nothing should be said to prevent the Executive
Council agreeing to the deposit of £30,000 by the Production Development
Board.

62. Before us Dr. Azikiwe maintained that in 1954 his colleagues weére
pressing him to use the African Continental Bank as a depository for Govern=
ment monies, and that for a long time he resisted the pressure because he.
felt it would be wrong to place Government funds in an indigenous bank unless
he was completély satisfied that it was being run on proper lines, which he
was not.

63. It is true that on the 18th March, 1955, Dr. Azikiwe followed ur
informal conversations he had had with Mr. Holt, regarding the possibilii-
of obtaining Managing Agents for the Bank, with a letter in. which the
following paragraphs appear:—

“ In other words, if you could assist in arranging for a reputable British
banking firm to accept the managing agency of this. Bank on mutually
agreeable terms, then the concern thch I refer to above will invest over
half a million pounds to enable the Bank to satisfy the requirements for
licensing, and the Bank then can proceed to discharge its functions on
the tasis of cfficiency and integrity.

I have it on authority that if the above fequirements are fully complied
with, that the Eastern Government will feel safe in using the Bank as one
of its depositories. Of course, you appreciate as well as I do that in the
present circumstances it will be highly improper for it to do so, or for
me to insist, directly or indirectly, that it should do so. Personally, I feel
very strongly about it, and I have made it clear to my pohtxcal friends

. and supporters that I will not be a party to such a suggestion.”

but in view of the active part that he played, at the Executive Councxl meetings
on the 13th and 30th December, 1954, in endeavouring to persuade Mr. Mayne
to agree to the deposit of the £30,000 in the Bank, we think his alleged
opposition to using the Bank as a depository for pubhc funds was more
imaginary than real.

CHAPTER ViI

Dr. Azikiwe’s knowledge of the position of the African Continental Bank
Limited when it first became a depository for public monies

64. In considering the part played by Dr. Azikiwe in these transactions,
we have taken into consideration only the information relating to the Bank’s
affairs which could be fairly regarded as coming within his knowledge at the
time public monies were first placed in thé Bank.  He could not, for example,
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have known the state of affairs revealed by the balance sheet at 31st glarc?
1955, which was audited by Akintola Williatns and Co., as this was not
completed until 9th December, 1955.

65. The balance sheet as at 31st March, 1954, was not issued until
23rd December, 1954, some months after Dr. Azikiwe hed resigned his
position as Chaitman and Governing Director of the: Rank, but he admitted
in evidenice that he had seén that document.- & shiowed a debit balance on
profit and loss account of £40,042, after wntm.;z off the debts separately
described on the balance sheet as bad. This eompared with the paid-up
capital of £31,08%, and thus suggested that the Bauk was insolvent at that
date even if the outsta.ndmg capital shown in that balance sheet (described
as in arrears) could be collecied. This was no new situation as the balance sheet
for the. previous year reveals that almost the whole of the paid-up cap1ta1 at
that date had been lost. At 31st March, 1954, the outstanding capital i$ shown
as £4,422 although in 1955 it was pointed out by Akintola Williams and Co.
that. this -bad b en incorrectly shown in the past and should have been
approximately £90,000.

66. Furthermore, Dr. Azikiws toid us that he was aware of the circum:
stances relating to the accouiits -of the Colony Commercial Trading Company
which “had swindled the Bank ” and resulted in £38,413 being written off in
the accounts to 31st March, 1955, although it related to periods prior to 31st
March, 1954. In addition to this, as we have already said, we aré satisfied
that Dr. Azikiwe was aware of the contents of the Report of the Financial
Secretary to His Excellency the Governor of the Eastern Region, dated 15th
December, 1954, and of the situation revealed by the letter of Mr Colin: Oblh
the Bank’s Head ‘Office Accountant dafed an Nov\,mber 1954.

CH’A}E’TER Y1

Circumstances in whick Securities belonging to the Eastern Region Marketing
Board were transferred fc the Finance Cﬂrpomhon and the realization
of them by the latter

67. At a meetmg of the Executive Council of the Easternr Region on the
17th. March, 1955, 1t was decided that the Finaunge Corporation- should be
financed by a grant of £2 million from the Eastern Regional Marketing Board,
which the latter ‘body were empowered to make under section 19 (k) of the
Eastern Regional Marketing Board Law, 1954, Section 21 of that Law
empowers the Minister of Trade (at that- time M. 1. U. Imeh), after consul-
tation with the Marketing Board, to direct tlie Board to make the typa of
grant approved by the Execu.’ ve Council: ‘

68. At its meeting on the 17th March the Executive-Council were infofed
that the Minister 6f Trade had already coasulted the Marketing Bozard, thai
they had agreed to make the grant, and: that the Minister of 'I‘IudB had in
fact already given the Board a direction to pay the sum, of £, million to the
Finance Corporation. At that time the Minister of Trade had in fact only
consuited the Chairman 6fthe Marketing Boatd; and during the hearing before
us it was suggested that he had-misled the Bxecutive Council regarding the
position, but we are satisfied that he bona fide belicved that the reéquirement
of the law regarding consultation had been c’;equata}y coraplied with by his
consultation with the Chaxrman

69. The last interview that ‘1he “Mmlater of Trd.de had wgth the Chairroan
of the Marketing Board had been on the: /Ast Bsbruary, 1955, and by the
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_;%J‘“ B@March the matter had not been fermally discusséd at a.meeting of the
Board, although the Minister had, on more than one oc¢casion, .sent reminders
to the Chairman. In these circumstances Dr. Azikiwe agreed to visit the
Chairman with the Minister of Trade, and a meeting took place on the 2nd
April, 1955. .

70. In view of the fact that the first meeting of the Finance Corporation
was scheduled to take place on the 6th April, 1955, it appears to us natural for
there to have been a feeling of urgency over the question of putting the Cor-
poration in funds (although Dr. Azikiwe stated that the main object of his

- visit was to -effect a reconciliation between the Minister of Trade and the

Chairman of the Board, whose relations appear at that time to- have been
strained). We think that no adverse inference should be drawn from the
incident:

71. There may well have been some hesitancy on the part of the Chairman
of the Marketing Board, natural we think, in disposing of the Board’s. funds
for a purpose other than was originally intended. The money came from ‘the
sale of farmers’ products and had originally been retained with the object of
cushioning the price of certain primary. products when the market price
became unduly low.

72.. The question of the grant was put to the Marketing Board on the: 14th
April, 1955, and was then agreed to.

73. The Marketing Board then transferred to the Finance Corporation
£2 million of 3% Savings Bonds. The first million was realized and fetched
£916,873, and the second £906,248, and since the arrangement was that a
grant-of £2 million should be made, the Marketing Board made up the balance
by the payment of two sums of £83,127 and £93,752, respectively.

74. The propriety of realizing these securities was. called in question -at
the hearing. It was suggested that the capital loss was unnecessary, and that in
addition there was a loss of interest of £60,000 per annum. We do not,
however, think there is any real cause for such criticism. If the securities had
been held for a longer period, and then sold, there would have been a greater
capital loss because the Savings Bonds progressively decreased in value, and
it was intended that at least some of thc money should bear interest when lent
by the Finance Corporation.

75. It is clear that everyone concerned regarded the 22nd May, 1955, as the
zero date for complying with the Financial Secretary’s requirements regarding
the liquidity ratio and additional capital, and that considerable anxiety was felt
in this respect. In view of Mr. Blankson’s false representations to the Financial
Secretary regarding the prospect of amalgamation with, and investment by, a
United Kingdom banking institution, his anxiety, anyway, can readily be
appreciated.

76. On the 18th May, 1955, there was a meeting of the Board of Directors
of thg African Continental Bank at which the following resolution was
passed : — \

“ RESOLVED that Mr. Adolphus Kofi Blankson, General Manager of
African Continental Bank Limited be, and is hereby, instructed to
proceed to the United Kingdom with a view to making effective arrangs-
ments for conversion into cash of the £2,000,000 Savings Bonds Certificatés
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issued to the Eastern Region Finance Corporation, which has apﬁdﬁtéll the
African Continental Bank, Limited, as their Bankers.”

. 77. The general anxiety would seem fo have been shared by the Minister
of Finance, Mr, Ojike, because on the following day, 19th May, at a meeting
of the Finance Corporation, he suggested that Dr. Mbanugo, the Chairman,
and Mr. Blankson, should immediately visit the United Kingdom with the
ob]ect of obtaining a speedy transfer of the £2 million to the Finance Corpora-
tion’s account with the ‘African Continental Bank. The visit by these two
gentlemen was duly made at the expense of the Finance Corporation.

78. The Nigerian press gained the wrong impression that their visit was in
connection with-obtaining a loan from the Colonial Welfare and Development
Fund, and published a statement to that effect. No one who knew the true
position, however, seemed to thmk it necessary to correct that erroneous
impression.

CHAPTER IX

Appointment of Members of the Finance Corporation, agreement to use the
African Continental Bank as a depository for the Corporation’s funds, and
‘t0 make a substantial investment in the Bank

79. Sub-section (1) of section 5 of the Eastern Region Finance Corporation
Law, 1954, provides that the Corporation shall consist of a Chairman, a
Deputy Chairman, and such number of other Members not being more than
eight or less than four as the Minister of Finance may from time to time
determine; sub-section (2) of the section requires that the Chairman, Deputy
Chairman, and Members of the Corporation shall be appointed by the Minister
from persons appearing to him to be qualified as having had experience and
having shown capacity in matters relatmg to finance, industry or trade; and
section 9 (1) of the law empowers the Minister of Finance, after consulfation
with the Corporation to give them directions of a general or specific character
as to the exercise and peérformance of their functions. The Corporation is
required to give effect to any such directions.

80. For reasons best known to himself Mr. Ojike chose to mislead us
regarding the manner in which the list of Members for appointment to the
Corporation, which was eventually submitted for the approval of the Executive
Council on the 17th March, 1955, was prepared and Mr. Blankson and
Mr. Okoye, who was eventually appointed Deputy Chairman, contributed to
the effort. We think that their reason for doing this may have some connection
with the peculiar circumstances in which the agreernent, eventually entered
into between the Finance Corporation and the African Continental Bank, came
into being. .

81. Two Ministers of State, Dr. Esin A. Esin, Minister of Welfare, and
Dr. Michael I. Okpara, Minister of Health, gave evidence that the question
of the membership of the Finance Corporation was debated at a Ministers’
caucus held on the 9th March, 1955, and that the list to be submitted to
Executive Council was then agreed to. We believe their evidence on the matter,
and reject the evidence relating to it given by the other witnesses mentioned.
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82."The list was finally submitted to, and approved by, the Executive
Council on the 17th March, 1955, and the appointments- were made on the
following day, 18th March. Dr. G. C. Mbanugo was appointed Chairman,
Mr. C. C. Okoye, Deputy Chairman, and eight other persons appointed
Members, among them being Mr. R. D. Nyamsi who is mentionéd here because
he was the only other Member -of the Corporation who gave evidence before
us.

83. The Finance Corporation held its Inaugural Meeting on the ‘6th April,
1955. Mr. Ojike, as Minister of Finance, was in attendance throughout and
made an address of welcome.

84. A number of matters were discussed at that meeting which are not
relevant to the subject we have to consider. The relevant ones are indicated in
the following extracts. from the minutes:-—

“The Honourable the Minister of Finance stated that funds to the
order of £2,000,000 were being made available to the Corporation. He
added that the process of obtaining this money was long but that every
effort was being made in every direction, to see that the Eastern Region
Marketing Board concerned paid this money over to the Corporation with
as little delay as possible. In this connection he assured the members that
the Honourable the Minister of Trade and himself wete pressing forward
in the matter and that it should not be long before the £2,000,000 would
become available to the Corporation.

Agendum 8 : Appointment of Bankers—The Chairman said that in
view of what was happening in some other Regions, the African Con-
tinental Bank should be preferred to the other banks. He said that if the
African Continental Bank was not yet licensed, then members of the
Corporation would see to it that this was done since it would be to- the
best interests of the Corporation to have this Bank built up. In allaying
the fears of some members who suggested that consideration shouid be
given to licensed banks, the Honourable the Minister of Finance stated
that the Bank of British West. Africa was a monopoly in that it alone banks
all our Eastern Regional Government money. The Eastern Regional
Government was not in favour of monopolies. Continuing, he said that
Governinent had officially informed the B.B.W.A. of its decision. not to
exclude other Banks from its financial transactions. The Eastern Region
Development Corporation had passed a resolution appointing the African
Continental Bank their bankers, and the Minister felt the Eastern Region
Finance Corporation should do the same.

The Minister further explained that what the African Continental Bank
required most for purposes of being licensed were capital and reserves. He
said that funds placed on fixed deposit in the bank would not solve the
problem since the bank would not thereby be increasing its capital or
reserves, but money invested in the bank in the purchase of shares would
surely build up the resources of the bank. If the Eastern Region Finance
Corporation did this, the Ministér said, it would have discharged one of its
functions, which was to apply its funds by investment in order to assist
in every field of development—agricultural, industrial, commercial or quasi-
governmental. In so doing, the Minister added, the Corporation would
help the African Continental Bank to advance money to Cocoa farmers,
produce buyers and other creditors for the furtherance of their particular
fields of development. Accordingly it was moved by Dr. G. Okojie,
seconded by Mr. E. A. Ekanem and adopted ° that the African Continental
Bank Limited shall be the bankers for the Eastern Region Finance
Corporation.” :
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The Chairman then called for a motion regardmg taking of shares in
the African Contmental Bank. Mazi H. N, Udoh moved, supported by
Mr. C. C. Okoye, ‘that the Eastern Region Finance Corporation. shall

_invest £3 million of its funds in the purchase of shares in the African
Continental Bank Limited of which sum, £3 mllhon shall be pald in cash
immediately and the balance of £250,000 later in Securities.” This was
unanimously .adopted.”

- 85. Dr. Mbanugo gave -evidence that earlier in the morning on the 6th
April, at the Minister of Finance’s invitation, he went to the Minister’s office
where the latter handed him a copy of the Agenda for the Corporation’s
meeting and a general discussion took place on it, including the desirability of
giving effect to the N.C.N.C. policy of supporting indigenous banks, and using
as the medium the African Continental Bank.

86. Dr. Mbanugo was cértain that the minutes of the meeting correctly
reflect what took place, and that it was the Minister of Finance who suggested
that there-should be an investment of money by the Corporation in the African
Continental Bank.

87. The next step in the story is a meeting which took place between
Mz. Blankson, Dr. Mbanugo and Mr. Okoye-on or .about the 16th May, 1955.
On that occasion Mr. Blankson visited Dr. Mbanugo at the latter’s hospital
in Enugu, Mr. Okoye arriving a little later.

88. Before Mr. Okoye arrived on the scene, Dr. Mbanugo and Mr.
Blankson discussed the proposal that the Finance Corporation should make
an investment in the Bank, and Mr. Blankson informed the Doctor that he
had a draft agreement with him which he would discuss when Mr. Okoye
arrived. That was done, and the document produced by Mr. Blankson was
exactly the same in its terms as the agreement which was eventually entered
into between the Finance Corporation and the African Continéntal Bank.

89. The manner in which the draft agreement came into being is shrouded
in mystery, since no witness who could have elucidated the matter chose to
tell us the truth. We disbelieve Mr. Blankson’s Mr. Okoye’s and Mr. Ojike’s
versions of the matter.

90. What is certain, however, is that the draft agreement, in the exact
form which it was eventually entered into on 20th May, 1955, found its way
into the minutes of a meeting of the Board of Directors of the African
Continental Bank held at Onitsha on the 5th March, 1955. This was before
even the membership of the Finance Corporation had been determined, and
over one month before the Inaugural Meeting of the Corporation took place.

9i. The next meeting of the Finance Corporation took place on the
20th April, 1955, the Minister of Finance being present.

Paragraph 8 of the minutes of that meeting reads as follows:—

“The Corporation understood that the Eastern Regional Marketing
Board had by a Resolution agreed to pay over the grant of two million
pounds to the Corporation. It was therefore agreed that the chairman
should insist that half of the grant or as much of it as possible be paid
in cash while the balance could be paid in short-term Government
securities. The Corporation’s Bankers, the African Continental Bank
Limited would readjust the nuraber of their shares and make necessary
arrangements to enable the Eastern Region Finance Corporation invest its

money by the purchase of as many shares as it would want to.”
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Agreement by the Finance Corpdration to. purchase 877,000 £1 shares in the
Alfrican Continental Bank entered into by the Chairman of the
Corporation and Mr. Blankson

92. On the 19th May, 1955, the Finance Corporatiori held another
meeting, the Minister of Finance again in attendance; and the Chairman,
Dr. Mbanugo, is recorded as having openéd the proceedings with the following
remarks : —

* The Chairman.apologised for having changed the date of thc meeting
as previously notified. He had had discussions with the Honourable the
Minister of Finance and the Honourable the Premier on the question of
grant of £2 million to the Corporation by the Eastern Regional Marketing
Board, and there had been certain developments which had made it
necessary to send for the Chairman of the African Continental Bank
Limited, and to summon the meeting of the Corporation immediately
afterwards.” :

CHAPTER X

93. The Chairman stated that the meeting of the 19th May, originally
scheduled to take place on 23rd May, was advanced to the 19th becatse .of
the Minister of Finance’s suggestion that he, the Chairman, and Mr. Blankson
should go to London in order to expedite the transfer .of the £2 million.

94. Mr. R. D. Nyamsi gave evidence that at the meetirig of the 19th May,
the question of the terms upon which the Corporation should purchase shares
in the African Continental Bank was generally discussed. To use his own words
“Qur Chairman had some of the headings of this agreement on a sheet of
paper which he read out at the meeting and we discussed it.”

95. Mr. Nyamsi went on to say that some of the Members of the Cor-
poration protested about some of the terms that were read out, as being too
unfavourable to- the public, and that he was under the impression that the
Chairman had taken note of their protests and made the necessary
amendments, and that he thought, and was under the impression that the
other Members thought the same, that a finished document would later be
laid before them for consideration, thus enabling them to ensure that their
views had been taken note of.

96. We formed the impression that Mr. Nyamsi was a witness of truth,
and we have no hesitation in accepting his account of what actually took place
at the meeting.

97. It is abundantly clear that no amendments were made, because as has
already been said, the agreement which was actually entered into was exactly
the same in its terms as the draft agreement which found its way into the
minutes of the Board Meeting of the African Continental Bank on the 5th
March, 1955.

98. The meeting of the Corporation on the 19th May was adjourned at
6-48 p.m., and resumed again at 9-20 a.m. on the 20th May. It continued on
that day until 5-30 p.m.

99. Dr. Mbango gave evidence that, either on the night of the 19th May
or the morning of the 20th May, that is to say while the Finance Corporation
was still in session, he took the draft agreement to the Minister of Finance
who inspected it, and that he then had it faired without referring it back to
the Corporation.

24

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online.
Copyright (c) 2006 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved.



. 100, -Onq the 20th May the. agreement was duly executed by Dr. ﬁéxﬁf’o,
on behalf of the Finance Corporation, and by Mr. Blankson, on behalf of the.
Afncan Contmental Bank; It reads as follows.: — ‘

“ THIs AGREBMENT made thiis 20tk day of May, 1955, bethen EASTERN

MBANUGO) heremafter called the Corporatxon of the first part and AFRICAN
CONTINENTAL BANK LIMITED (through its Acting Chairman, Adolphus Kofi
BranksoN) hereinafter called the Bank of the other part.

Witnesseth as follows: —

1.- The Corporation shall purchase from the Bank 784,000 fully paid
Ordinary Shares of £1 each, provided that a commission of ten per
cefit. will be paid to the Corporation by the Bank in consideration of
the Corporation agreelng to subscribe the aforesaid Shares.

* 2. The Corporation shall purchase from the Bank 93,000 fully paid
Preference Shares of £1.each, provided that a commission of ten per
cent. ‘will be paid to thé Corporatlon by the Bank in consideration
of the Corporation agreeing to subscribe the aforesaid Shares.

3. The Corporation shall purchase at par any Ordinary or
Preference Share/s from. any Shareholder/s of the Bank willing to
transfer same to the Corporation.

4. The Corporatlon shall be at hberty whenever necessary to
appoint a Banking company incorporated in or any Banker/s recog-
nised in the United Kingdom or elsewhere to act as Managing Agent/s
of the Bank, for and on behalf of the Corporation and other Share-
holders so long as the ‘Corporation has controlling shares in the Bank.

- 5. The Corporation shall use the Bank as a main deposﬁory of the
- funds of the Corporation,

6. The Corporation shall persiiade 1ts beneﬁc1ar1es and -customeis
to use the Bank as one of the main depositories of its funds.

7. Thet'Sank shall increase its nominal Share Capital of £250,000
(divided insx200,000 Ordinary Shares.of £1 .each and 50,000 Preference
Shares of £1-each) to £1;000,000 (divided irito 900:000 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each and 100,000 Preference Shares of £1 each).

8 The Bank shall bear the preliminary expenses entalled in increase
- of capital, that is to say, starip duty on capital, fees and deed stamp.

9. The Bank shall sell -to the ‘Corporation 784, 000 fully-paid
Ordinary Sharés of £1 ¢ach, provided that a commission of ten per
cent. shall bé paid to the Corporation by the Bank, in consideration
of the Corporation agréeing to subscribe the aforesaid Shares.

. 10. The Bank shall sell to thé Corporation 93,000 fully-paid
“Preference Shares of £1 each, provided that a commission of ten per
cent. shall be paid to. the- Corporation by the Bank, in consideration
of the Corporation agreeing to subscribe the aforesaid ‘Shares.

. 11. The Bank shall sanction any transfer of Ordinary or Preference
‘Share/s from any Shareholder/s of the Bank to the Corporation,
provided that same is negotiated at par value per Share.

12. The Bank shall accept without any reservation the appointee
of the Corporation as Managing Agent /s of the Bank for and on behalf

of the Corporation aiid other Sharcholders so long as. the Corporation
has controlling shares in the ‘Bank.
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13, The Corporation shall nominate five out of the nine Directors
of the Bank and the Bank shall nominate four Directors including the
Chairman who shall always be the Founder of thé Bank and/or the
Governing Director or the nominee of the Founder; provided that the
four Directors to be nominated by the Bank shall be appointed by-the
Founder of the Bank and/or th¢ Governing Dlrector or the nominee
of the Founder.

" 14. The Cotporation and the Bank shall adjust all outstinding
obhgatlons of the Bank to its Directors. and ‘Sharéholders-to mutual
satisfaction. -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parues hereto have hereunto set thelr hands
the day and ‘year first above: written.

Signed and delivered.-by the within-named EASTERN Y
NIGERIA FINANCE CORPORATION (through its Chair-
man Godwin Chlnwendu Mbanugo) in the presence Jg G. G MBANU GO.
of:: : o
~ C. C. OKOYE, Dep. Chairman.

(Witness)

Signed and delivéred by the W1Eh1n-named AFRICAN }
CONTINENTAL BANK LIMITED (through its Actmg
Chairman Adolphus Kofi Blankson) in the presence f A. K. BLANKSON.

of:
COLIN OBIH, .
Head Office Acct. ACB Ltd.”

It will be observed that Dr. Mbanugo’s signature was witnessed by Mr. C. C.
Okoye, the Deputy Chairman, and Mr. Blankson’s by Mr. Colin ‘Obih, the
Head Office Accountant of the Bank. .

101. From the foregoing it is -clear that the Minister of Finance, the
Chairman of the Finance Corporation, his Deputy, and.}Ms. Blankson were
in the know as to what was actually taking place, but weiire quite satisfied
that none of the other Members of the Finance Corporation were kept
informed. That fact emerges -clearly from: the evidence, and is underlined by
the fact that although the agreement provided for the purchase of a specific
number of shares, that is to-say 877,000, the Chairman considered it necessary
at a meeting of the Corporation held on the 27th July, 1955, to ask his
colleagues to pass a new resolution i increasing the Corporation’s purchase of
shares in the Bank to 877,000. The televant minute reads as foilows:—

“ Eastern Region  Finance Corporation’s Shares in the African
Continental Bank Ltd. —The Chairman pointed out that a new resolition
to increase the Corporation’s shares in the bank to 877,000 was required
to replace the one made during the inaugural meeting of the Corporation
on 6th of April, 1955. The need had resulted from the discount made by
the Bank on the original investment and in compliance with its régulations.
On the motion of Dr. Okojie seconded by Mr. Abang it was resolved
that 877,000 shares instead of the original 750 000 be bought in the African
Continental Bank Ltd.”

102. If the agreement had been finally approved by the Me;‘mbers of the
Finance Corporation on the 19th May, it would obviously havé been unneces-
sary to pass the further resolution on 27th July, and one would have éxpected,
in an important matter of that kind, to find a record in the minutes of the
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meeting of the: 19th that theterms of the agreement to. be entered 1ntoqg Zeen
approved,.but-thére is none. . -

103, Mr. Nyamsi said that he had never seen:a copy- of the final agreement.
We are satisfied that one was, never placed before a full meeting of the Finance
Corporatlon and that their consent to the terms of the agreement actually
entered into was not obtained. In this connection it is important to bear in
mind that the purchase of sharés involved an investment of approximately
40 per-cent. of the total cap1ta1 available to the Corporation.

104. Pursuant to the agreement the Bank issued, on: the 16th June, 1955,
share. certlﬁcates for 784,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each and 93,000 Preference
shares of £1 each, and ‘on the 21st June, 1955, the Finance Corporation paid
to. the bank.£789,300- which. was the full amount owing for the shares taking
into account the 10 per cent, commission. allowed to the Corporation under
clauses 9 and 10 of the agreement..

- 105, In our*v1ew having regard to the financial position of the bank at that -
time, the agreément was unduly favourable to the existing shareholders. That,
and the fact that it was obviously not intended to change any clause in the draft
agreement to meet the views of other members of the Finance Comoratlon is,
we think, the reason why it was éxecuted in the cifciimstances descnbed

106. The Minister of Finance attended every meeting of the Finance
Corporation ‘up to and including the one on the 21st June, 1955, that is to say
up-to the date when the money for the purchase of the: shares in the bank was
paid over. We: formed the impression that his purpose in doing this was to
make quite certain that no hitch occurred, and that the transaction was put
through. Thereafter he attended none.of the meetings.

107. In concluding this aspect of the matter we would observe that, in spité
of the decision of the Executive Council at its meetmg on the 11th December,
1954, that the Minister of Finance should exercisé his powers under the law
“only in consultation with aind with the approval of Executive Council,”
he failed to refer the matter of this substantial investment to that body before
it was made. It is obvious that his conduct in the matter was tantamount to a
direction.

108. It was tentatively suggested that he did not refer the investment to the
Executive Council for its approval because of an opinion given by the Attorney-
Geneéral of the Eastern Région, to the effect that it was ultra vires the Law to
fettér the discretion of the Minister which it conferred upon him, but Mr, Ojike
did not seriously put that forward as his reason. The Attorney-General would
also seem to have expressed the opinion that there was no objection to a
“ Gerntleman’s agreement,” of the nature already referred to.

109. Mr. Ojike was closely questioned on this sub]ect and when it was
pointed out to him that it had been considered necessary to refer the question
of the deposit by the Production Development Board of £30 ,000 in the African
Continental Bank, to the Executive Council, he said that he had considered
the investment of over £750,000 a mere detail.

110. Finally, Mr. Ojike admitted that he had not referred the investment
to the Executive Council because he feared that objections might be raised.

111. We think his fear was well-founded, because it is probable that if the
matter had been referred to the Executive Council that body would have
wanted to know the terms of the agreement that it was proposed should be
entered into by the Finance Corporation with the bank.
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%Ié §“Dr. Qkpara, who at that time lived next-door to the Minister .of .
Finance, stated that the latter had informally mentioned to-him: the fact that
the Finance Corporation was making an investment in the bank, but it seems
clear from the eviderice that, in addition to his omission to. refer the matter to
the Executive Coouncil, the Minister also reframed from submlttmg 1t to a
Ministérs’ caucus for consideration.

113. In his proof which he gave to us before we commenced hearmg
evidence, Dr. Azikiwe said’;—

“On the 10th November 1955, the Secretary of State told me about
the agreement-dated 20th May, 1955, above referfed to aiid called my
attention 1o thé-contents of Clauseés 6 and:'13: of the agreement although to
the best of my recollection he did ot dctually show me the agreement.
- This was, I :think, the first time that T ever heard of the agreement. On my

' return to- Nigefia-on the 30th Novembet; 1955, T asked: for“and 6btained’ a
copy of the agreement. I had definitely not seen'the- agréetent’ before this
time. Very shortly after my return and before I had obtained a copy. of the

“agréement T saw M, Blankson in Lagos and told him that the Secretary
of ‘State had informed me of the contents of Clause 13, As I was extremely
pressed with work I asked Mr, Blankson 1o give me a. week or 50’ ’s.breathing
space and then to come and see me and explain how the whole thing
camé about:™

and he gave much the same eviderice on oath before us; although: he-did say
that the Minisfer of Financé had. he thought on: the 7th-April, 1955, inforined
him that the Finance:Corporationhad agréed to make asubstantial investmént
in the Bank, but he would have had us’ sbeheve that was the sum total of his
knowledge of the transaction. . -

114. There is no evidence before us upon whrch we woiild be 3ust1ﬁed in
reaching the conclusion that Dr. Azikiwe had: seen the actual agreement Jong
before his méeting with the Se cretary of State on the 10th November, 1955,
‘but we are satisfied beyond doubt that he knew-of | it, and we feel 3ust1ﬁed in
concluding that he Was awdre of its- general purport

. 115. Dr. Azxkrwe s letter to Mr. Holt, dated 18th March 1955 contams
the following passage:—

“T told you ™ (referrmg to a meeting wh1ch be had w1th Mr Holt on
the 2nd March, 1955) * that the directors of the African Continental Bank
have negotiated with a certain concern which will invest over half a miliion:
pounds in the Bank. Both patties agree that in the intefest of efﬁmency,

"+ and in order t0 leaveé no doubt in thé minds -of the general publi¢ both

. here and abroad regardm<7 the iitegrity of the Bank, that a respons1ble

‘banking institution in the United Kingdom' should serve as managing
agents of the Bank.”

116. That passage seems to us to have some 91gn1ﬁeance, because the

“ cerlain concern ” mentioned thersin could be ro other than the Finance

Corporation which, at that date, had not yet held its inangural mecting. As

we have already mentioned it was not until the 18th March that thé members
of the Finance Corporation were hotified of thelr appoiritinent,

CHAPTER X1

' Information which would have been available to the Finance Corporatmn
before the Investment was made, had appropriate enquiries been instituted

i17. It appears that at the time the heads of agreement were briefly dis-
cussed by the Finance Corporation, a bare minimum of mformauon was laid
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before the members. It is evident that they cannot have acqurrgsaaery
extensive knowledge of the financial position of the Baik 4t that time; as on
the occasion of their meeting .on theBth Sépteinber, 1955, it was agreed.to ask
for an:enquiry as to ‘““what real assets the Bank at preserit possessed ”

118. Inexperience in such matters might make the members unaware of all
the information which they ‘shouid have required before agreeing.t0 a trans-
action of such. a major charactés, but bearing in mind the knowledge which
they .must have had at that date of the many failures of indigenous banks
‘which' had taken place in the precedm0 years; the closest enquiries. into' the
up-to-date: position of: the..African: Continental Bank, even though: it had
survived difficulties which had overcome so many of its competitors, ought
to have been made .

_ 119 If appropnate enqumes had been made the information which. sub-
sequently came o light in the accounts audited by Akintola Williams and Co.
up to. 31st. March 1955, which. were completed on the 9th Decembei, 1955,
Appendrx “K.” could have been obtainable by the members of the Corpora-
tion, and the decision to make. an, investment of so large an.amount should
have been reserved until the fu]lest mformatron was avallable

120 The mformatron arxsmg out ot such enquiries would have shown §=F

‘(@) That the Bank was insolvent and had incurred very substant1a1 iosses
due to bad debts arising in earlier years for which provision had not
previously- been made. (Although it was suggested that the provision
which had. been made was, excessively cautious, the fact remains that
since the 31st Mareh, 1955, only £1,489 has been recovered in respect
of debts written: off to a total of £128,591, indeed, Mr. Wilkins. held
the, view that far from the provision ‘being unduly conservative it would
‘have been pr,l,dent 10 increase it by a further £50, 000.)-

(b) That assuming the dssets-set out in the balance sheet were worth thelr
book figures; the pard up capital of £31,646 had been completely-lost
and a deficiency of £136,837, -over and above the paid up capital;, was
being borne by the depositors and other creditors.

(c) That there ‘were ¢alls in arréars of £90,600. (There seems some ‘doubt
whether this is the correct térm to be applied as from evidence, which
was given, no-calls appear to have been madé, and this outstanding suii
related to uncalled caprtal) o

(d) That £41,100 of the unpaid calls (set out in Appendix *C ™) was due
from Companies of the Zik Gtoup. and this sum-could only have been
_obtained by borrowing more money: from the Bank and. so increasing
the habxhty under the guarantees of Mr. Ojukwu and Mr. Ugochukwu,
referred to in paragraph 153.

(¢) That the shares of the Bank at 31st March, 1955, of both classes, were
worthless. (This opinion was shared by both. Mr. Wilkins and Mr.
Akintola Williams. Indeed the shareholders. far from: being possessed
of an asset were faced, in many cases, with a liability to meet their
outstanding calls.)

(f) That the -effect -of making the investment under the terins of the Agree-

" ment was to-increase the value of the shates held by other shareholders
in the Bank from nil to 14s. 104. (In- his evidence Mr. Wilkins attri-
buted this value to all the shares in the Bank, both Preferencé and
Ordinadry, whilst Mr. Akintola Williams. attributed a value of 20s. to
the Preference shares and 13s. 104d. to the Ordinary shares.)

121. Whatever view is taken of theé value of- the shares, either before or
after the event, it cannot be denied that the. effect of the transaction was that
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thg%i‘rg;%ce Corporation immediately :assumied 87 per -cent:. of the losses
amounting to. £168,483; which had been incurred prior to its investmient:
Furthermore, the discount which was allowed; against the cost of the shares
was not:borne in toto by the other shareholders, 87 per cent. of it being borne
by the Finance Corporatlon

122. Statements weré laid before as to show the position. of the Bank and
the Zik ‘Group of Companies at 31st March, 1955. From thesé it Was clear
that the ‘state of insolvency which then:existed: throughout the whole organisa-
tion (with one .exception): could-only result in ‘the hquldatlon of the Bank aiid
the Companies in the Group, unless: substant1a1 amounts: of new cap1ta1 could
be provided.

123. The statements, supported by evidence given by Mr Woolmer
revealed that the whole of thé capital of the organisation (Zik- Group and
Bank) had been lost, and in"thé event of liquidation the creditors of the Bank
would have rece1ved a-dividend of 15s. in the pouiid, the sectired creditors and
unsecured: creditors of ‘the Zik Group. of Companiés an average d1v1dend of

8s. in the pound and 4s. in the pound, respectively,

124. We were told by Dr. Azikiwe and other witnesses, that the questlon of
liquidation would fever have arisen as the African Continental Bank possessed
“ immeasurable goodwill ” which would enable it to raise any capltal required
in the event oOf a crisis.

125. Examples of the willingnéss of Mr. OJIﬂCWll and Mt. Ugochukwu to
guarantee the overdrafts of the Zik Group of Companigs with the Bank were
quoted. Mr. Ojukwu told us that he gave his guarantee because he was
satisfied that he would be able to recover my sum he might be called upon to
pay out of the tealisation-of Dr. Azikiwe’s properties, within a very short time.
Willingness to give guarantees of this nature is. very diffefent from providing
latge amounts of cash cap1ta1 The fact remains that no serious' attempt ‘was
evér made t0 obtain new cap1ta1 from any source: other than the Finance
‘Corporation.

126, Dr. A21k1we on bemg asked why no attempt had been made to
call up the outstanding and uncalled cap1ta1 stated that it did not occur to
anyone. As the amount due from the Zik Group of Companies, £41,100, could
only be paid by increasing the loans from the Bank, to that extent the
receipt of uncalled capital would not have improved the liquidity ratio.

127. Bearing in mind the policy of the N.C:N.C. in connection with the
use of an indigenous bank, and ‘the suitable vehicle which the African Con-
tinental Bank provided for this purpose, we can see o objection to nego-
tiations for the Finance Corporation to invest in the Bank on reasonable
terms taking place, provided suitable safeguards were introduced for improve-
ment in the management of the Bank, which was obviously in the mind of
Dr. Azikiwe in his endeavours to obtain the assistance of a British bank as
Managing Agents.

128. Although the shares of the Bank were worthless, a reasonable figure
might have been offered to the existing shareholders for the transfer of their
shares in consideration for the advantage of the ready-made organisation
which the Bank provided. This would have been at least one step towards
carrying out the policy-of the N.C.N.C. to establish a State Bank.

129. It must not be overlooked that the shareholders were faced with the
serious alternative of liquidation if the Bank did not obtain a licence, and
it is probable that any new investor would, at that stage, have made the fullést
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"™,
enquiries before accepting without qualification a share of the l,osse,s_.\_vlfich
had beeén incurred up to-date. In any negotiation, therefore, the scales were
by no means weighted in favour of the existing shareholders.

' 130. Following the completion of the Agreemieiit between the Bank and
the Finance Corporation, shares which had previolisly been worthless
in¢réased in value to 14s. 104. per share, and {f the benefits of clause 3 of the
Agreement are taken into account became worth 20s. pér share.

131. The. financial benefits. accruing to the holdings of Dr. Azikiwe, his

family, the Directors of the Bank; and the Companies of the Zik Group, were
‘therefoie as. follows:— : = .
at 14s: 10d. af 20s.-

per share. . pershare

_ £ . A

Azikiwe, N. ... 20,770 28,000
Azikiwe, O. C. ... 2,966 '4,000
Arinizé, Mrs. C. E. ... e 2,966 4,000
‘Aririze, Miss E. O. " ... vl e 2966 - 4,000
Arinze, Miss V. I. ... .. .. 2,966 4;000
Nwosisi, J. O. ... .. 74 - 100
Okonkwo, F. E.. ... .. .. 742 1,000
.Blankson, A. K. e 1,558 2,100
Zik Enterprises Ltd: ... .t .. 37010 - 49,900
Nigerian Commodities Ltd. ... = ... 2,966 4,000
African Book Co. Ltd. ... e 1,483 2,000
- Nigerian Paper Co. Ltd.. ... ... 1483 - 2,000
Nigerian Printing Supply Co. Ltd. ... 1,483 2.000

As already pointed out, Dr. Azikiwe’s effective interest in the ‘Companies
of the Zik Group averaged about 45%.

CHAPTER XII
Appointment of new Directors to the Board of the Afiican Continental Bank,
and events immediately subsequent t6 the investinent by the Finance
Corporatien ‘in the Bank S .
132. On the 2nd.April, 1955, an Extraordinary ‘General Meeting f the

shareholders of the African Continental Bank was held and the following
paragraph. appears in the minutes. of that mceting :

“ That this meeting do hereby ratify and approve the draft -agreement
reached whereby the Eastern Region Finance Corporation would appoint
five (5) out of the nine (9) Directors of the Bank (vide clause 19 of the
Articles of Association of the Company), and which further vests the
Founder of the Barnk and/or his nominee with: the power to nominate
the other four (4) Directors of thé Bank and hereby sanctions and approvés
of the appointments made by the Founder’s nominee as under:

ADOLPHUS KOFI BLANKSON—Chairman,
OBED-EDOM CHUKWUEMEKA AZIKIWE,
CECILIA EZIAMAKA ARINZE, and

FELIX EZEJIOFO OKONKWOQ.”

It will be noted that this occurred four dayé before the Inaugural Meeting
of the Finance Corporation, and that Dr. Azikiwe’s father and sister were
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among those reappointed (they had ‘béen Ditéctors continiiously since the time

the Bank was known as “ Tinubu Properties Ttd.”). -

133, Pursuant to clause 13 .of the Agreement, the Flnance Corporatlon
at a meetmg held on the 21st June, 1955, appeinted five of their number to
be Directors -on the Board of Directors of the African Continental Bank.
Among those appointed were Dr; G, C. Mbanugo and: Mr. .C. C. Okoye.

134. On the 29th June, 19535, a Circular was sent éut from the Head ‘Office
of the African Continental Bank convening an Extraordinary ‘General
Meeting of shareholders of the Bank for the 20th July, 1955. The object of
the meeting is statéd in the Circular to be as follows :-

“to pass the following as Extraordinary Resolutions:—

(1) That Article 15 be deleted and that the followmg be substituted
therefor :

“15'(A) The Eounder of the Company (Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe)
shall be the Governing Director and Chairman during his. life-time
unless he shall fail to hold shares of the Company of ithe nominal
value of at least £100.’

15 (B) The ‘Chairinan of the Board of Directors shall preside at
every General Meeting, but if at any meeting he shall not be presént
within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for. holding tbe same,
or shall be unwilling to act as a Chairman, the members present shall
choose some Director, or if all the Directofs present shall -decline to
take the chair, they shall choose some member present to be Chairman
of the Meeting.’ : -

(2) That Asticle 19 be deleted and the following sub‘stituted‘ therefor:
“The number of Directors shall be not less than three nor inore

than nine provided that the Founder and Governing Director shall
nominate not less than four Directors *.”

135. The Extraordinary General Meeting was held on the 20th, July and
the Resolutions set out in the Circular were duly passed.

136. Although, by this time, the Finance Corporation was the largest
shareholder in the Bank it was not considered necessary ‘to. send it"a copy
of the Circular convening the meeting. When questionéd a@bout this omission
Mr. Blankson was unable to give a satisfactory -explanation.

137. The new Article -15(A) introduced for the first time the word
“Founder ” into the Articles of Association of the Bank and clarified the
position as to who that was by going on to say “(Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe).”

138. Dr. Azikiwe gave -evidence that he was unaware of 'this change in
the Bank’s Articles, -even in his capacity as a shareliolder. His Counsel
submitted that it was a case of “May the Lord protect me against my
friends; against my enemies I can protect myself,” referring to Mr. Blankson’s
evidence which was to the efféct that he alone was responsible for introducing
the amendment to the Articles, and there is no evidence before us to the
contrary. :

139. As soon as the amendment to the Articles of Association of the Bank,
by the addition of the new Article 15(A), came to the notice of the Finance
Corporation, they protested about it -and insisted that the name of Dr
Nnamdi Azikiwe ” be deleted therefrom.
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140. Pursuant to this protest a ineeting of the Board of Directors of the
Bank was held on the 10th Septémber, 1955, which was attended by the five
Directors. appomted to. represent the Finance. Corporatlon, and the followuv7
resolution was. passed:—

“Chairnian and F ounder RESOLVED that the name of Dr Nnamch
'+ Azikiwe, appearing in thé first line' of ‘améndment to Artlcle I5CA) be
‘ deIeted and-that the clause be amended to-read as follows: —
, ' The Fournder of the ‘company shall be the Govermng Director and
- Chaifman during-his life-time, unless he shall faﬂ to hold shares of the
company of the nommal value of at least £100.” -

© 141 The insistenice - by the Fmance Corporation on the deletion of Dr.
Azxklwe s namie fron the Article in question clearly did 1ot altet the position.
1t 'still provided that the “ Founder of ‘the’ Company shall be the Governing
Director aiid Chairman during his life-time *, and:since Dr." Azikiwe was the
“Founder ” the position remained the same Buf: Wwe are-satisfied that the
members of the Corporation genuinely believed that theu.' amendment had

put the matter right.

142. On the: 13th. August, 1955, the Financial Secretary mformed the
African Continental Bank that he was now prepared to- issue a licence, and
it was issued by him -on: the 15th August, 1955. ,

. 143. Following the investment by the Finance Corporauon, the. Bank on
the 25th August,. 1955, paid: to its Directors outstanding fees. of £‘O 092, which
had accumulated at the 31st March, 1955.

144. At a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Bank on the 2nd
March, 1951, it was resolved that ““in view of the limited resources of the
‘bank, fees.due to the directors be suspended ”, and at.a meeting of the Board
on the 19th Apsil; 1952, it is recorded that “ the accumulated fees shall be
paid to the Directors in due course when the financial position warrants
same”, and on the 4th ‘October, 1954, that feés “be paid to Directors. so
.entltled plus any arrears-die, subject to improvement of the ﬁnanc1a1 position
of the Bank”. These resolutions were, no doubt, tequired owing to the
111adequate workmg capital then available to the Bank, and the 1mprovement
in the financial position, which eventually enabled the fees to be paid, was
due entirely to the investmert by the Fmance Corporatlon and not 10 any
other introduction. of capital or profits- arising by reason of any action of the
Directors before that date. .

145. Out of the sum of £10; 092 Dr. Azikiwe recelved £5,252, Mr. O. C.
Azikiwe £2,000, Mrs. C. E. Arinze £i, 550,..and Mr. Blankson £1,150.

146. During the period in respéct of which the otitstanding Directors’ fees
were paid, Mr. O. C. Azikiwe personally attended two meetings. of the Board
and Mrs. Arinze four.

147. Owing to age and infirmity, Mr. O. C. Azikiwe. was unable to give
evidenice before us, but Mrs. Arinze did, and we are satisfied ithat it is fair
to describe her as.a mere figure-head in so far as the Bank was coticerned.

148. There is, of course, nothing wrong in.the payment to directors of
outstanding fees due to them, but in the circumstances here, and bearing in
mind that the payment was only rendered p0551b1e by the injection of public
‘nioney’ into’ the Bank, we. think the transaction is open to'question. It is
relevant here to observe that the payment was made without the knowledge or
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gon?ent of the Members of the- Board appointed by the Fmance Corporation,
despite the provisions of clause 14 of the agreement.

149. In view of the conclusion we shall later record regardmg the conduct
of the Chairman of the Finance Corporation in connection with-the sigiing
of the Agreement between the Corporation and the Bank, we think it only
fair to say that-once the investment had been made he appears. to have used his
best endeavours to- ensure that the Bank was properly and efﬁcxently Iun, as
the following -extracts from a Secret and Personal letter written by h1m, as
Chairman of the .Corporation, to the General Manager of the Bank,
Mr. Blankson, on the 23rd Januaty, 1956, indicate: — .

““ My only concern is that as the Chairman of the Fmance Corporatlon.
appointed by the East and through whose work this-Bank was placed on its
present firm. position by investing nearly one million pounds of the tax-
payers’ money, I have the grave responsibility of accounting for the satis-
factory working of the Bank. The tax-payer whose money was invested into
the Bank has. every right to expect a secure and. regular treatment from the

Bank.”.

and again,

“what is. more, I-do niot want myseff to be used as a tool in life; and 1
do 1ot want to be looked upon-as a man whose tCorporatlon did a faulty
investment and thereby lost the tax-payers™ money.’

150. From the high-handed attitude adopted by Mr. Blankson in his replies
to correspondence from the Finance- Corporatlon he would appearito have felt
himself to be in a very secure position. '

CHAPTER XIII

Use made of the Resources of the African Continental Bank after the
‘Investment -and- Deposits by the Finance Corporation:

151. As shown in Appendix “L * between 31st March, 1955, and 31st July,
1956, the pald-up capital of the Bank had been incréaséd by £880,530
including the new investment made by the Finance Corporatlon amounting to
£877,000. After deducting the 10 per cent. commission allowed under the
Agreement of 20th May, 1955, there was a net addition to capital of £792:830.
During the same period customers’ deposits had increased by £1,340,400, of
which £854,236 (shown in Appendix “ M **) arose directly from the unexpended
portion of the grant from the Eastern Region Markeiing Board of £2,000,000,
which remained either to the credit of the Statutory Boards to whom loans had
been made or of the Finance Corporation itself.

152. These additional resources available t6 the African Continental Bank,
Limited were broadly disposed of as. follows:—

Increase in loans and advances of £959,343 of which the pr1n01pa1 ones

were
£

Companies of the Zik Group (being an mcrease from o
£112,173 to £170,770) ; 58,597
N.CN.C. (being an increase from: £12 844 to £50 500) 37,656
A. G. Leventis & Co., Ltd. . 300,000
Eastern Region Development Corporatlon 50,451
Industrial Chemists, Ltd. e 46,428

153. The overdraft of the Zik Group was secured by the personal
-guarantees of Mr. L. P. Ojukwu for £200,000 and Mr. M. N. Ugochukwu for
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£50,000 which were originally verbal, but, at the request of the Aud1to§ &5
Akmtola ‘Williams, were confirméd in writing in November, 1955 and
althouch it was’ suggested that these written guarantees were not in proper
legal form, Mr. Ojukwii in ‘the course of hlS evidence confirmed that he
considered-himself bound by 1ns ur\dertakmg, and we believe that he would
have honoured it.

. 154. The. overdraft of the N.C:N.C. was sécured by the personal guarantees
of three persons supported. by-a charge on land and buildings.

155. During the course -of the evidence before us it was suggested that the
ioan to A, G. Leventis & Co. Ltd., which was repayable .on demand and bore
interest at the rate of 3 per cent., was, unduly favourable to that. Company,
and that for so large a proportion of the Bank’s resources to be invested in
this. way was financially unsound. Dr. Azﬂqwe in his Iétter 10-Mr. Blankson,
dated 30th January, 1954; said: —

-« But for Leventis the Pilot would have had a terzible time since it is
obvious that it could not have continuéd to- 'pay £2,000 monthly on the
U.AC. plan of * cash and carry.” The Leventis plan has given us.a breath-
ing space-and we should be grateful to this firm for its cons1derateness in
extendmg cred:lt facﬂltles t0 thls young ngerlan company.”

We are of oplmon that the criticism of this transaction is not well founded.

156. The advance was made out of funds in London and was repayable
in Nigeria and so effected a substantial saving to the Bank in iransfer charges
when it wished to repatriate the funds to Nigeria. Indeed. Mr. Woolmer, in
his evidence, recorded that between 17th April and 15th June, 1956,
£650,000 had been remitted from Iondon to Nigeria ¢ hrough the medium of
A. G: Leventis.& Co. Ltd. in a similar manner, arthough in that case the funds
were. merely transferred through their account and did not remain outstanding
-on loan account for any period.

157.. The remaindér of the increased resources referred to above enabled
the Bank to improve its liquid position as cash in hand was augmented by
£443,681, and balance with banks on deposit and on demand increased by
£671, 152 Payment was also made of outstanding Directors’ remuneration as
set out in patagraphs 143 to 145.

158. During theé hearing, various suggestions of a derogatmy nature were
made regarding the loan by the Finance Corporation of £100,000 to the
Nigerian Engineering and Manufacturing Co. Etd., a company set up to
manufacture cement. This suggestion was made under the belief that Dr.
Azikiwe had at one time been a director of this company. We do not accept
that view, and consider that there was good ground for the belief, held by the
Ministers concerned; that it ‘was in the interests of thé Region to have a
cement company on the spot. Nor do we believe that Dr. Azikiwe was ever
effectively a director.

CHAPTER XIV

Dr. Azikiwe has an interview with the Secrefary of State at which the former’s
connection with the African Continental Bank is discussed. The Chair-
man of the Finance Corporation informs the publlc of the investment in’
the Bank

159. On theVIOth November, 1955, Dr. Azikiwe had an interview with the
Secretary of State in London. During the course of the interview the Secretary
of State ralsed the question of Dr. Azikiwe’s association with the African
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Contmental Bank, aid inforiried him that it would be quite. unthmkable in
the United Kingdom for a bank, which was set up by the Chlef Mlmster,
“to recétve £1 miillion from public funds to keep it solvent, and that there
could; of course, be no question of the Chief Minister of the. Eastern Region
of Nigeria retaining rights to the chairmanship or to nominate d1rectors Y
The Secretary of State suggested that the least Dr. Az1k1we could do would be
to drop the provisions in the Agreenzent (clause 13) in regard to his own
position as Chairman, and the right to nommate ¢« three > of the Dlrectors, -and
Dr. Azikiwe agreed to do that, ‘ : .

160. Dr. Azikiwe’s part in the d1scuss1on is’ set out i the ploof of his
eviderice which he gave to us, aiid reads as: follows e’

“ When I spoke to the Secretary of State in London on the 10th Novem-
ber, 1955, in reply to a question by him, I pointed out that T was in fact
not a Director and had no legal claim whatsoever to be taken back into

- the service of the Bank. It. was, as a matter of fact, likely that after I
ceased to be a Minister I would, if I expressed a des1re to be. taken back,
“bé invited to go back and serve again with the Bank. In. my opinion, as
‘T had on all relevant occasions made the fiillest disclosure. of my interest
in the Bank and had in January 1954 completely severed my connection
with it except as a shareholder there would ‘have, been no ‘ground for
criticism in this situation.”

and Dr. Azikiwe goes on- in- his' proof to fiake the followmg comments in
regard to the position :—

“1agree that it would: be entiréely dlﬂerent it 1 had preserved any legal
right to go back or had made any stipulation with anybody that T would
be taken back. This I definitely had not done and I had 1o legal claim
whatever. Accordingly there could, in my opinion, have been no. objection
to a situation in which as a Minister of the Crown I knew that it was likely
that I might be at the end of my Ministry invited to serve again, I, in fact
as stated, having made full disclosure and having abstained completely
from- participation in any Government decision to make use of the Bank.
It cannot ‘be open to ob1ecuon that any Minister in any Goveriiment should
have the hope while in office that he rdy be' invited after relanurshlng
office to serve .as a Director of a large public company, ‘the fortunes of
which have in fact prospered under the administration of the Government
of which he is. a member, s6 long as whilst being a Minister he has 1o
connection with it otherwise than as a. shareholder, and so. long as he acts
in any decision in.the making of which he takes part by the Government
to which he belongs in a desife to promote public welfare and not in the
desire either partly or wholly to make it certain -or likely that a lucrative
position in-the undertaking .concerned will or may be open to him ‘when
he relinquishes office. This was my situation and I am most emphatic that
in my attitude towards the building up of Eastern Nigerian economy and
indigenous banking in Nigeria I was. wholly actuated by considerations for
public welfare and not at all actuated by the considerations of my own
private advantage. I may perhaps obseive that there ate ‘in the Eastérn

. Region and. in Nigeria generally, no doubt many Companies which have
- thrived and which I hope will thrive or be constituted if not -already in
being in which after leaving office I could, if I so desire, be invited to take
up positions on the Board. It surely cannot be said, in my opinion, that
. this being so, there could be any objection: to my participating 11 Govern-
ment decisions which would have the effect of stimulating investment
public and private in such companies provided always that-1 act in such
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. "y
decisions single-mindedly in what I would believe to be the publicﬁnér?st
and maintained no connection whatever except as a shareholder with those
companies when holding office as a Minister.”

161. In view of the active part it was laier' proved: Dr. Azikiwe. played in
at least one *Government decision to..make use of the Bank,” we are of
opinion that Dr. AziKiwe’s commerits in his proof place an unduly favourable
complexion on the matter.

162. Dri. Azikiwe retirned to Enugu, thé capital of thé Bastern Region,
on the 2nd December, 1955, and on the 5th December the following Press
release was made on his authority:— ‘

. EASTERN- PREMIER’S RELATIONSHIP WITH CONTINENTAL BANK LIMITED
- . ~.-SEVERED SINCE JANUARY 1954 - :

. Dr. Noamdi Azikiwe, Prémier of Eastern Nigeria, transferred all his

rights and piivileges as Founder, Governing Director and Chairman of the

- African Continental Bark Limited, as soon as he was appointed .a Minister

of State in Jariuary, 1954: This was disclosed by an official of the office of

the Premier this morning. =~

- The spokesman said that this statement was. made in order 1o remove

doubts and to definé more clearly the relationship of the Premier with the

African Continental Bank. It will be recalled that Dr. Azikiwe was the

+ “Founder, Chairman and Govérning Director of the Bank from its inception.

- Recently this Bank concluded -an agreemént with the Eastérn Nigeria

. Pinance Corporation which eriabled the Corporation to gain control of the
~Sharéeholding and policy of the Bank.” ’ '

163. In view of the fact that the investment by the Finance Corporation
in the Bank .achieved .one of the N.C.N.C.’s major poinuts of ‘policy, we think
there: was a ‘surprising reticence in publicizing the matter. It was not until
unfavourable comiments. had appearéd in the Press that the Chairman of the
Corporation, on the 9th December, 1955, authorised the following Press
release:— g

' CHATRMAN (;),F FINANCE COREORAIiON_REEbTEs ALLEGATIONS
 The Chairman of the. Eastern Region Finance «Corporation, Dr. G. C.

- Mbanugo; has stated in -Enugu today that the Corporation has acquired
controlling shares, both Preference and Ordinary, in the African Con-
tinental Bank and also has a wide majority on the Board of Directors. This,

" hé said, had placed the Corporation in a position: to control the policy and

" the internal working of the Bank. Dr. Mbanugo was refuting allegations.
-which appeared in' a Lagos newspaper recently seeking to give the wrong
impression that the Bank was still in any way under the control of Dr. the
Honourable Nnamdi Azikiwe, Piemier of the Eastern Region.

The Corporation, he added, was chiefly interested in making the Bank
serve the needs of the Region by providing expanded credit facilities to
African traders and business men and had evolved plans and programmes
to this end. He ended by saying that the collection of dividends from the
Bank was not and had never been the primary aim of the Corporation
as was alleged.” \

. 164. We think this reticence was due to a feeling, on the part of those
concerned, that the Agreement entered into by the Corporation was not as
favourable to the public as it ought to have been.
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Mr. Eyo’s Motion asking for an independent Coxmiiissfon of 'I_ilquiry to
enquire into. the investment and deposit of public funds in the African
Coitinental Bank, and circimstances connected therewith

165. On the 17th May, 1956, Mr. E. O. Eyo, Member for Uyo Division,

forwarded the following Notice of Motion to the Clerk of the Eastern House
of Assembly i—

CHAPTER XV

“BE 1T RESOLVED :

That this House humbly requests that an mdependent Commission of
Inquiry be appointed forthwith to énquire into the circumstances sur-
rounding the investmeént and/or deposit of public funds of the Eastern
Region totalling nearly £2 million in June, 1955, in the African Continental
Bank Limited, in which Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe, the Premier of the Eastern
Region, has an interest, and to submit a report of it§ ﬁndmgs and récom-
mendations to His Excellency the Govertior; after the accounts of the said
Bank shall have been audited by an independent and reputable firm of
Auditors appointed by the Governor; the reports. of the said Comimission
of Inquiry and the firm of Auditors to be laid on the table of this House.”

166. As a result of Mr Eyo’s Motion, on the 20th June, 1956, a draft
White Paper, which subsequently became Sessional Paper No, 4 of 1956,
entitled * Report on Banking and Finance in Eastern Nigeria,” was considered
in the Executive Council of the Eastern Region, Sir Clement Pleass, the
Governor, presiding.

167. The draft White Paper contains a chapter headed “ The Role of ‘the
Premier,” the object of which was. to meet criticism levelled at the investment
made by the Finance Corporation in the Bank, with: particular refeérénce to the
Premier’s connection with the Bank.

168. That chapter was prepared on the instructions of Dr. Azikiwe by
Mzr. D. O. Ibekwe, Legal Adviser to the Premier, and it contained a reference,
subsequently deleted, to clause 13 of the Agreement which made it appear
that Dr. Azikiwe’s statément that, up to -the time of his meeting with the
Secretary of State on the 10th November, 1955, he had never seen the
Agreement, was untrue.

169. Mr. Ibekwe gave evidence that he had included that partlcular
passage, not on Dr. Azikiwe’s instructions, but owing to a wrong surmise
made by him. Both Dr. Azikiwe and Mr. Ibekwe were closely questioned
about the matter, and we think it sufficient here to say that we accept Dr.
Azikiwe’s denial that he gave Mr. Ibekwe any Such instructions, and
Mr. Ibekwe’s explanation as to- how the passage came to be included.

170. There are, however, two passages in the draft White Paper which
we feel constrained to mention.

171. Early on the morning of the 26th March, 1955, just before a meeting
of the Executive Council which was held on that day, Dr. Azikiwe had an
informal discussion with the Governor, Sir Clement Pleass, in the course of
which they discussed the question of helping African-banks, and the Governor
suggested that the first step should probably be to- take such measures as
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p
would assist the African Continental Bank to obtain a licence. A sug ges?on
to which Dr. Azikiwe agreed.

172. The. meeting of the Executive Council was then held, and the
following passage occurs in one of the minutes of that meeting:—

“ Was there not perhaps some misunderstanding. For example, was not
the real aim to assist African banks, particularly the African Continental
Barik. And, if so, was this suggestion of dividing the business of Govern-
ment between a number of banks the best way of helping the African banks.
Should not the first step be to take such measures as would assist the
African Continental Bank to obtain a licence.”

It was not in dispute that those words were spoken by the ‘Governot.

173. It is clear from Dr. Azikiwe’s letter to Mr, Holt of the 18th March,
1955, to which we have already referred, that the former was aware of the draft
agreement which the African Continental Bank had ¢ negouated with a certam
concern > which would “invest over half a million pounds in the bank,” and
we are satisfied that Dr. Azikiwe was then aware of the fact that it was intended
to insist upon the Finance Corporation being “'that certain concern,” but he did
not see fit.so to inform. the Governor.

174. The ﬁrst passage in the draft White Paper to which we wish to refer,
reads:—

“ When the proble‘m' of investing public funds in an indigenous bank
confronted the Government, it was decided, on the initial advice of His
Excellency the Governor, that the Eastern Region Finance -Corporation
should invest sufficient funds in the African Continental Bank Limited to
cenable it to have the capital and reserves necessary to bring its liquidity
ratio up t0 the required 30 per cent. Th1s advice became the basis of one
aspect; of the policy of this Government.”

175. That passage. ini the draft White Paper had reference to: the statement,
made by the Governor in Executive Council on the 26th March, 1955, and he
agreed to its being incorporated 1in the Sessional Paper, but it is abundantly
clear that he did so in complete ignorance of the fact, well known to Dr.
Azikiwe, that the policy of the Finance Corporation of investing a large sum in
the African Continental Bank was riot in fact initiated by hlm, but by
Dr. AZ1k1we and his colleagues

176. That statement in thé White Paper can only be described as false, and
a mistepresentation of the facts. In our view the statement was made by
Dr. Azikiwe in an attempt to give the investment transaction a cloak of
respectablhty, which he did not think it otherwise possessed.

177. Jt1 1s ‘also relevant to observe that the false statement contained in the
White Paper was. originally made by Dr. Azikiwe in a passage of a letter he
Emi]ote to Sir Clemént Pleass on the I4th January, 1956, which reads as
ollows: —

“I.do not propose to go into detail over the affairs of the Government
of the Eastern Region and ‘the African Continental Barik. Your Excellency
will remember that the suggestion to fund that Bank with the resources
of the Finance Corporation, to enable the latter to own controlling shares,
came from you. At no time was the question of the solvency of the Bank
ever in doubt.”
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{iﬁ& The second. passage.in the draft White Paper to, which we wish, to
refer, reads: — . ‘ , L

“ although the Bank operated at a loss, yet it was solvent, as reference to
its balance sheets and its ability to survivé the erdeal of bank closures. in
1952 testify.” ' ‘

179. On the 14th April, 1955, Dr. Azikiwe was séit d fépott on the African
Continental Bafik, made by a bankeér in England. The répoit was: puf in
evidence, it is headed— o : L v

“ Private.and Very Confidential

X.Y.Z. Bank, Limited,”

and paragraphs.2 and 3 read.:—

“The balance sheet as at 31st March, 1954, suggests that the Bank is
~ insolvent and in the abseiice of adequate cash resources and a sound: liquid
position.it 1§ a little stirptising that the Bank has been able, during the ast
twelve montlis, to meet the calls'made upon it by its customers. Thé Head
.Office Accountant’s report dated 2nd November, 1954, shows that there
had been & further deterioration in the cash position and that liabilities to
depositors had arisen to £654,333 of which only £55,614 was held as time
deposits. It is probable that a large propottion of the savings deposit
. balances (£430,129 on 31st March, 1954) will remain with the Bank on a
more or less perrhanent basis and the first concern, therefore, must be to
provide adequate cash cover to meet calls in respect of the current acéount
credit ‘balances. (£162;961 on 3ist. March, 1954). The experience of the
. officers conceinied will dictate the cash requiremenis needed to-meet calls
"by savings: account. customers. - e S
In this matter something néeds to be: done as a matter of urgency if the
confidence of ‘both- customers and the general public is to be maintained.
"The Suggestion that the manageient should be taken ovér by one of the
Joint Stock Banks in the United Kingdeza is most unlikely to find -accept-
ance in any direction, and it is felt that the sending out to Nigeria of bank
officials from the United Kingdom, who do not understand-local customs,
and the African approach to the granting of loans and the taking: of
: sg;cléri%es;{{:tc. ; would not provide a solution to the immediate requirements
of the Bank.” : R

180. To say in the White Paper, therefore, “ Although the Bank operated
at a loss, yet it was solvent,” as Dr. Azikiwe did, and in his lefter of the
14th January, 1956, to Sir Ciement Pleass, “ At no time was the quéstion of
the solvency of the Bank ever in doubt,” seems to us to. have been putting an
unduly favourable complexion on the position. ~ : '

[

181. Mr. Eyo’s Motion came up for debate in the Fastern. House of
Assembly on the 26th June, 1956. When it was reached on the Order Payer,
and Mr. Eyo rose to move, Mr. N. W. Abengowe, one -of the N.C.N.C. Party
Whips, raised a point of Order, referring to Rule 25 (3), of the Standing Rules
and Orders of the House, which provides that “ Reference shall not be made
to any matter on which a judicial decision is pending, in such a way as might
in Mr. Speaker’s opinion, prejudice the interests of the parties thereto,” and
he went on to say “Sir, I have it on authority that a Writ has been taken on

ill}is ga-tter and it is pending in Court and a Summons has been served on
r. Byo.” , ' '

182. As we have already said, Mr. Eyo’s Notice of Motion wés. sent by him
to the Clerk of the Eastern House of Assembly on the 17th May, 1956. On the-
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5th May, 1956, Mi. Eyo had’ written' a letter to Dr. Azikiwe in \§11h he
charged thie lattér with abuse of office and corriiption in connection ‘With- the
mvestment of' pubhc funds in the Afncan Coiitinental' Baiik, which he des-
¢ribed as yout Bank,,” and he sént 4 copy of that letter to HlS ’Excellency
the Governor Eastern Reglon, and the ngenan Press

183, 1t was known that Mr. Eyo’s Metion was hkely to be debated on or
about the 26th June.

. 184. On the 20th. June, 1956, Dr. Aztklwe caused an apphcatlon to be
made to, the. High -Court, Calabar, for.a Writ of Summons, claiming damages
for libel in. connection with the letter Mr. Eyo had sent to the Governor and
tge Press, and the necessary fees payable in respect. of the writ were paid -on
that day

- 185 The Writ was not in faot issued until the 6th July; 1956 and it follows
that. on. the day Mr. Eyo’s Motion came up for debate that the writ had not
then been ‘served-upon him, - . .

186. Several Metibers of the House including the Premler, ‘Dr. Azikiwe,
and Mr: Eyo, spoke on the. point of Order raised by Mr. Abengowe. The
Premier 1nt1mated that the .statement that action had been taken was correct,
and Mr; Eyo stated that he had not been served with any writ and that he was
not; apart from: rumours: he had heard, aware that any actton had been filed

187 After deahng w1th the pomt in some detaﬂ the Speaker of the House
concluded his-remarks. by saying:—

“In my view the matter is sub judice for the reasons g1ven and 1t would

« be unfair to let it proceed. In thé result, the motion stands adjourned for

;- stich action as.the members may care to take. Meanwhile they have their

remedies in Court and if either Eyo or the Premier wishes at any time to

. ake any statement; on the. sub]ect he i s free to do so. I rule the motion
out.of order.” : , .

- 188. The Hansard report of the debate ‘was put in evxdence, and 1t was
suggested 4t the hearing ‘before. iis, that the effect of Dr. Azikiwe's speech
was a plea that the Motion should be debated on that day.

. 189 It is the case that at the-conclusion of the dxscussmn, Mt. Eye;'in his
reply Said “If I may- teply, Sir, there is no peint, Sir, in appealing to you to
waive standing ordefs. The point is correct and we cannot proceed with:this
motion because an action has been instituted;” but -in the light -of the sur-
Tounding circumstances, and in.view of the tenor-of Dr. Azikiwe’s speech, we
have reached the conclusion that there was no.genuine de51re on the part of

Dr. Azikiwe that the motion.- should be debated. - : -

190. If Dr. Azikiwe was as-anxious, as he told us he was, that a debate on
‘Mt:-Eyo’s Motion should take place, it seeriis odd that he did not refrain from
applyin for 'his Writ-of Summons for anothér week or two, since, by that time,
it would have been reasonable to assuifie that the debate wouldt have been
concluded

, CHAPTER xvr .

v Conclus:ons

- 191. Whatever the legal effect of Dr Azikiwe’s letter dated Je anuary 30th
1954 resxgnmg from the offices of Chairman and Governing Director of the
African Continental Baiik, and of the instrument, made on the same _date,
appointing Mr. Blankson to act in his stead as Governing Director and
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Chalgnf n%df the Bank, we are satisfied that Dr. Azikiwe intended their effect
to be that Mr. Blankson was appointed -as his agent to. act in his. stead as
Governing Director and Chairman of the Bank so long .as. he. remamed a
Minister of State, and +hat upon relinquishing the office of Minister of State
he would automatically resume the offices of Governing. Director and Chair-
man of the Bank. In other words, that he intended those documents to create
an agency, with himseif in thé background as principal, and we have no- doubt

that Mr. Blaankson understood that to be the position..

192, We believe that Dr. Azikiwe’s primary motive was to- make available
an indigenous bank with - the ob]ect of libetalising credit for the people -of
this country, but we are satisfied that he was attracted by the ﬁnancial power
his intérest in‘thé Bank gave him.

193. Moreover, there can be no doubt that the control of the newspapers
inclided in the Zik Group of Compames gave Dr. Azikiwe -a degree of
political power which we think he was anxious to: retain. Tt is lear that the
continued existence of the Bank was an important factor in the ﬁnancmg of
the Zik Group of Companies.. oo

194. In -considering whether Di. Azikiwe has been guilty of 1mproper
¢onduct, in. hi$ capacity as 4 Minister, in ‘connéction Wwith the affairs of the
African Continental Bank, we apply what we think would be the standards
of right:thinking citizeiis, unbiased by their political-opinioss. Applymg that
test, we consider his conduct in this matter has fallen short of the expectatlons
of honest, reasonable people. -

195. It is a fact that the deposit of £30,000 by the Eastérn Region Pro-
duction Development Board was made at a most appropriate tin> in the
affairs of the Bank, and-that the purchase of the shares in the Bank by the
Finance. Corporation .made Dr. Azﬂclwes investments in the Bank and the
Zik Group of Companies more secure.

196. It is not true that, except as a shareholdeér, Dr. Azikiwe seveied his
connection with the Bank in January 1954. It was clearly proved before us
that, although he may not have interfered with day-to-day management of
tb;: Bank, he did his best to: further its interests and kept his hands on -the
helm. .

197. In the circumstances here, we: are of the opinion-- that Dr A21k1we
ought to have rehnqmshed his.financial interest in the Bank when the proposal
to inject public monies into it was. first mooted, and that he was -guilty. \of
misconduct as a Minister.in failing to do so.

198. It is a fact that on the 3rd July, 1956, Dr. Azdclwe wrote to Sir
Clement Pléass asking him to inform the Secretary -of State that he agreed
“that the offending parts of claiise 13 of the existing agreemeént should be
removed as well as the oﬁendmg parts of clause 6 ”, but this was long after
are-in favour of the Bank and his w1llmgness to have the otandmg porttons
of them removed seems to us to indicate that even as late as. the 3rd July,
1956, Dr. Azikiwe still considered that he could speak for the Bank.

199. We have already dealt with the circumstances in which proceeds of
securities belonging to the Eastern Regiondl Marketing Board were transferred
to the Finance Corporation, and we have nothing to add, except to say that
there was undoubtedly a great deal of haste about the transaction, but after
carefully considering all the relevant circumstances we have reached the
conclusion that there is no good ground for imputing any nnpropnety in this
corinection,
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200. The matter of the usé fade of the resources of the African
Continental Bank, both before and after the investments and deposits, has
already been dealt with, and we have nothing further to add.

201. Since the public sittings of the Tribunal we have hédrd, with regret,
that Mr. Ojike has died. In these circumstances we have abstained; as. far as
reasonably possible, from mentioning him in this report, but. we feel bound
here to say that his failure to refer the matter of the investment, before it was
made, to the Executive Council, after the clear directive given: at its meeting
on the 11th December, 1954, and his conduct in ensuring that an agreement
which was so obviously more favourable to the existing shareholders of the

. Bank than to the public, was: énteréd into by the Finance Corporation, did
infringe the standards of conduct the public are entitled to expect from the
holder of high Ministerial Office. We are, however, satisfied that his over-
riding motive was a desiré to give effect to his Party’s policy of taking the

first step towards -creating a State Bank. ‘ ' . .

~202. Dr. Mbanugo’s conduct as Chairman of thé Finance Corporaticn, and
that of his Deputy, Mr; Okoye; in connection with the Agreement is, in our

view, also open to question.

203. They both failed to take their colleagues on the Corporation into their
confidence, as they ought to have done, by informing them that it was the
inténtion that the Agreement, the draft of which they had both seeri before-
hand, and which they failed to ensure was placed before their colleagues, was
to be signed by the Chairman on the 20th May, 1955, without furtber reference
to the other Members. : o

204. Their failure to cause a proper investigation to be made into the
financial position of the Bank, in order-to -ascertain what sort of -agréement

it would be proper to enter into, before it was signed, was, we think, a derelic-

tion of duty on their part as trustees of public monies.

205. We have already pointed out that after the investment was made the
Chairman of the Corporation did his best to ensure that the Bank was properly
run. : S _ ‘
206. The evidence itidicatés that the other members of the Finance Cor-
poration trusted their Chairman and his Deputy, and we do not feel that any
real blame can fairly be attributed to them. Nor do we think that the evidence
discloses any good reason for. criticism of the other Ministeis in the Eastern
Regional Government. ‘ L | |

207. We wish to place on. record our appreciation of the great assistance
rendered to us in this Inquiry by our Counsel, Mr. Brian MacKenna and
Mr. W. A. B. Forbes, ifi presentinig and ‘testing the evidence before. us, and
assisting us in our endeavours to ascertain the truth. Our thanks also go to
Mr. Cyril Russell, the Solicitor instructing them. We should also like to thank
Sir-Frank Soskice, Counsel for Dr. Azikiwe, and all the other maembers of the
Bar who appeared before us and those instructing them, for their help through-
out the Inquiry. S '

208. Finally, we should like to express to our Secretary, Mr. K. J. Hilton,
his staff, and Mr. W. A. H. Duffus, who. also assisted; our appreciation of the
efficient help they so willingly gave us throughout.

Dated this 20th day of December, 1956.

S. FOSTER  SUTTON,
M. de COMARMOND.
V. A. SAVAGE.

G. F. SAUNDERS.
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<L APPENDIX A. . ,
' - ' jWifnosges’, '

1. Mr. A K. Blankson,
Governing Director’; Chan‘man and General Manager,‘Afncan Contx-
nental Bank Ltd. ,

Chaxrman Eastern Région Finance: Corporaﬁon.

3. Mr. C.'C. Okoye, B o ,
PDeputy Chairman; Eastein Region. Fmance Corporatlon. .

4, . Mr. S. P; Wikins,

.and Co.,

5. Mr. A. H. Young,
former: Chaxrman Eastem Reglonal Marketmg Board.

6. Mr.J. Young,
former Dlrector of the: Department of Marketmg and Exports ngerxa

7. Mr. M. M. Ojike, '
Meimber of the:Bastern House of Assembly,- formel:‘mester of Fmance——
October, 1954 to January, 1956. Co L,

8. Mr. M. N::Q; Sagoe, = .
Acting Registrar: of Compames ngena

9. Mr. L..P, Ojukwu,
Member of the House.of Representatxves Company Dlrector Member of
the Eastein Reglon Economlc Mlsswn 1954 .

10. Mrs. C. E. Arinze,
Director, African. Contmemal Bank, Ltd

11, Mr. J..O."Nwosisi,
Director, AfncanConUnentalBank Ltd ——November 1952 to Aprll{ 1955

12 ‘Mr. B. B.;Salami; ,
Secretary, African Continental Bank, Ltd,

13. Mz C. K. U, Obih,
Chxef Accountant  African- Contmental Bank Ltd

14. Mr. E. O. Eyo,

~Chartered Accountant, Partnerdn-the ﬁrm of Deloxtte Plender, .erfftths . .
RN . Proof,: ;.,

Member of the Eastern House. of Assembly, Deputy Speaker-October

1954 to December, 1955, -Government Chief, Whip-+=Januaty,- 1954 to. .

June, 1956, Chairman of the Eastern: Regxon Development Corporatxon— . :
; " Proof.

February, 1955 to Apn] 1956.

i5. Professor N. Chukwuemeka, '
Managing Director; Nigerian. Enginéering and' Manufacturmg Co. Ltd

16. Mr. M. N. Ugochukwu,
former Director; African. Continéntal Bank; Ltds, , .-

17. Mr EdemIta, -
‘Employee, Post and Telegraphs Department and brother:-m~law to Mr
E. O. Eyo. , .
18. Professor Eyo Ita,
Member of and Leader of the Opposition. Party in the E_astem House of
Assembly, (

19. ‘Mr.R.D. Nyamsi
Member of the Eastern Region Finance Corporatlon

20. Mr. J. 8, Déans, .
Principal Government Valuat‘on Officer: .

21, Mr. H. C. Woolmer,
Chartered Accountant with Delontte, Plender, Gnﬂiths and Co.

22. The Hon, Dr. E. A, Esin, < :
Minister of Local. Government Eastern Region, former Mxmster of
Welfare and Labour.

23, Mr, Akintola Williams,
ghartered Accountant sole partner in the firm of Akintola Williams and
0
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' Proof:. ‘

Proof,‘ .

Proof.

. Proof.,

Proof?;.

Proof.
Proof,
Proof.

Proof,
Proof,

Proof.



24. M. J.A, Holt, .. 685
Ghairman;, John Holt;and Co (leerpool) Ltda, Du'ector Martms ‘Bank,

oL Ld Aﬁidavrt.
25, Mr. J.A: Nsxrlm
. Member of the Eastern Regnonal Ptoductlon ’Dcvelopment Bbard. A Proof
26.. M. B,:C. Onyuiike; o
. - Genefal'Sectetary; Ibo Youth League oL " Proof. °
7. Mr. D.-Q. Ibekwe, - C ,
. Legal Adviser to ‘the Prermer of the Eastern Region. : Proof.
28. 'The Hon..Dr. M. I Okpara, ; .
_ Minister-of Health, Eastern ‘Region. . . : Proof.
29. “The Hon. Dr. Nnamdi-Azikiwe,. . )
Premier and Ministér of Internal A:ﬂ‘alrs Eastern Reg;on. A “‘Proof.

30. Mr; A,:@, Saville,
a “Clerk to the Fastein Reglon Executxve Councll—-.lanuary, 1952 to April, .
1955. Proof.
‘31~. TheHon. Mr. 1. U.Imeh;, -+ '
- Ministerof W =lfate,~EasternaReglon, former mestcr~of Trade.

g Probf "against ¢ a thness nanw mdlcates that thé wrtness gaveq statemént fo'the Trxbunal
'before he Was callcd _ o

¢ ‘APPENDIX"“" ~ e

Short Summary of the Evidence

13th October, 1953, - g
“Lettet written: by Fmam:lal Secretziry tb the Gcneral Manager, Afncan Contmental Bank,

stating various conditions to-be fulfilled by the-Bank to.enable its application-for-a licenice 16
receive furthér-consideration, One of: the:points was, that the liquidity ratio: of the- Bank whxch
‘was then-9 ‘8 per cent.; -should be. mcreased to -a-minimum-of 30:per cent .

Ist January, 1954, - .

- Dr..Azikiwe became:a mesterfof State
,30th ‘January, 1954, . © ’ . '

DI, Azxkxwe S Jetter to the Afncan Contmental 'Bank Tesigning his Chalrmanshlp and
~Govern’ ‘g‘.Dxrectorshlp of:that; Bank Dr. Azxk1we s létter to Zik Group. of. companies resigning
lus Chalrmanshlp and’ Dlrectorshrp of the various conipanies, "Document purportingto- transfer
Dr. ‘Azikiwe’s tights and :privileges to Mr, Blankson dated 30th_January,, 1954, ‘Private and
confidential Ietter dated 30/1 /54 wntten by Dr.. Azikiwe-to Mr. Blankson giving the latter the
hrstory ‘of the vanous coimpanies in the Zik Group.
27th February; 1954,

The Financial ‘Sectetary’s letter-to ‘Mr, Blankson pointing- out :—

. ‘“Thatthe Bank is contmumg -t0-operate-in-an. insolvent staté.and is not in a: posmon to
© meéet. rts habnhtles “on demand”. The carryingon of bankmg ‘businessin such circumstdances, .
" the possible conseéquenceés of - whxch are’ extremely serious, reveals.a lack of sensé.of: ﬁnancxal
responsibility ‘which-could not-be-condon )
1 9th March, 1954,

Mr. Blankson, General Manager of ‘the African Contmentai Bank wrote to the Branch
Managers-of the African ContinentalBank ‘stating 'i—

Lo Branches are.advised to conduct vigorous house.to house campaigns for cash -deposits
by -customers ‘against the-end of the month, Reliable and .wealthy .clistomers should be
speclﬁcally approached t0 deposit; -even: for-one day on the 31st March,. substantxal sums
of money which can be withdrawn by them.as soon after that day -as they desire.”

8th May to: JuIy, 1954,
Dr.. Azikiwe and Mr, Ojukwu in. Europe and ‘the United States on their economxc -mission,
-25th Jure, 1954,
"~ Dr, Azikiwe thad luncheon and informal: dlscussxon with-some Dlrectors of Martins- Bank
Ltd. in Liverpool.

29:h Juily, 1954,

* 'Mr. Obih, Head Office Accotintint of the Afncan Contmental Barik, at a meeting with the

Deputy Financial ‘Secrétary -asked him what were the minimum requlrements for the grant

of a licence to the African Continental Bank Ltd, under the Banking Ordinance-and was
informed that :— .

“ (i) The cash liquidity ratjo of assets to liabilities, at present of the order of 8 per

cent. would need to be very considerably increased.and a-ratio of 30 per gent. was-desirable.
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% ’(ii)% ¢ oveérall position-of the Bank indicated: that it was insolvent and there was need.
for'a‘cofsiderable increase inthe paid up.capital. If; as Mr;:Obih agree¢d was:quite probable,

. the item of £88,000.0dd in respect.of other-accounts-on the assets side of the first:schedule
of the return was likely to prove to be not.an asset at all; then it would seem that if the
capital paid up were jncreased from £31,000-0dd t0, say, £125,000, the Bank would be well
under-way to solvency always provided that the debentures referred to-in item 4(a) (iii)-of
the.assets were properly vahied at current rates, If in fact they were of a lower value than
‘that stated, then the suggested paid up capital figure of £1 25.000 would hdve to be increased
by the athount by which the presént value of the debentures fell below the value stated i
the return.” . . - - Co

1st Qctober. 1954,

The new constitutional arrangements came. into force. = Co
The Eastern Region Marketing Board Law received the: Royal::Assent. -

2nd: November, 1954. o ‘
Letter ‘written by Mr. Obih fo the General Manager of the African Continental Bank
pointing out an impending crisis inthe following terms :— '
“ Review-of Financial Position.

The liquidity of.the Bank is therefore in-a very dangetrous:position. Thefigure of liquid
assets has since been. reduced considerably. It must have gone down by about one-third
after October 15, the date at which the present statistics were computed, A very serious
financial crisis looms ahead . . . A run on the bank is predicted before or immediatély
after the end of November, unless financial aid to the tune of £30,000 is réceived before
December 15, 1954.”

2nd December, 1954. __— : S e
Mr. Eyo’s imotion at the meeting of the Eastern Region Production Development Board

for the deposit, of £30,060 in the African Continental. Bank—£5,000 on current.account and

£25,000 on fixed deposit. ; a B

8th December; 1954. . - . . o .
Interview between. Mr. Blankson and officers of the Financial Secretary’s Departmént. The

note of the interview made by the Department reads. :— o, . . . E

« Mr. Blankson said that negotiations were how nearing finality for the amalgamation

of the Bank with a United Kingdom banking house. This arrangement would involve a

large injection of United Kingdom.capital and the taking.over of the general direction and

management of the Bank by expatriate personnel. It was not ‘yet decided ‘whethér the

_African. Continental Bank would-continue to.operate.undér-its present name. The United

Kingdom institution concerned had already examined the Bank’s ‘books and ihe con*

clusioi: of the present negotiations was in no way dependent on a further audit. Neverthe-

less a full audit by a United Kingdom firm of chartered accountants appointed by the
other institution would be carried out. Representatives of this firm would begin work in

Nigeria-in January next.” .
11th December, 1954 ‘ ' :

Executive Council approved Eastern Region Finance Corporation Bill on the understanding
that the Minister of Finance should “ exercise his powers only in consultation'with and with the
approval of Executive Council ”. ) ' '
13th December, 1954.

Executive Council .advised Mr. Mayne, the Officer Administering thé Government, to
approve the resolution of the Eastern Regional Dévelopment Boaid to place£5,000 on Current
account and £25,000 on fixed deposit account with the African Continental Bank. Brfore
accepting the advice Mr. Mayne wished to reassure himself by first consulting the Banking
Authority, the Financial Secretary. ) -

" Dr. Azikiwe intervened and, infer alia, reported Mr. Blankson’s meeting with-the Financial

Secretary on the 8th December, 1954. ° : Co '

30th Deceniber, 1954. '

At Execiitive Council Mr. Mayne expréssed the view that it would be better not to deposit
the Eastern Region Production Devélopment Board’s funds with the African Continental Bank
until the proposed association:with a United Kingdom bank had.become:a reality and the bank
had fulfilled the conditions necessary for it to be licensed. The Ministers argued against this
view. Mr. Mayne accepted their advice. Mr. Mayne read to Executive Council pertingnt
parts  of the report on the Bank from the Financial Secretary. ,

28th Jauuary, 1955, ;
Mr. Blankson wroteé to the Financial Secretary stating that :—

_ * The: British institution concerned has-found it necessary for one of its directors to visit
Nigeria 4nd to conclude-negotiations, Arrangements have been madé by us for his arrival,
‘which is imminent.”’ ‘ C
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Ist Februaty, 1935, . Co Cirre w . 687

Eastern Regron Fmance Corporatron Law cameirito’ operatron

21st February, 1955. ’ - o 1
. Meeting between Mr. Imeh, Minister of Trade, and Mr. Young, Chairman of the Markcfmg
Board, regardmg grant of £2' mllhon by the Marketing Board to the Fmance Corporatlon

2nd March, 1955.

Mr: Holt paid. Dr. Azikiwe a: courtesy vrsrt in the mornmg D,r. Azncrwe bneﬂy drscussed
the affairs of the African Continental Bank with Mr.. Holt, Mr. Holt attends cocktail party
given in his honour at Premier’s Lodge, when. further discussion took place. .

5th March, 1955.

Boatd megting of the African- Continental Bank resolved to increase: caprtal to £1 mrlhon
and: to issue- 784;000- ordmary ‘and 93,000 preference sharés to the Eastern Regional Finance
Corporation at a commission of 10 per-cent.

Tetms -of the Agreement as .eventually entered into- are attached to:the Mmutes of this
meetmg ) , .
9th March, 1955, N

Ministers’ caucus held. Final list of members of Eastern Region Fmance Corporatlon
approved at.the caucus of Ministers. . L

10th March, 1955.. ~
Mr. Ojuke, Minister of Fmance, met Dr Mbanugo ata Moral Rearmament meeting held
in Enugu and informs him of proposal to: :appoint him as-Chairman of Finance Corporatlon

15th. March, 1955.
The Premxer replied in the ‘House of Assembly 1o Opposmon s, criticism of the deposrt of
[Eastern Region Production Development Board’s funds with the African Continental Bank.
“There is a world of difference between depositing money in a bank and investing
-money in a bank.

17th Maich, 1955. . - P

Executive - Councxl approved final list of ‘members. of the Eastetn Region Finance Cor-
poration. ,

181}1 March, 1 955

Mer-bers of Fmance Corporatron notified of their appointment,
... Br. Azikiwe wrote-to.Mr. Holt :—

““This is to confirm the discuissions we had recently . ... I told'you-that the:directors:.of
the African Continental Bank Ltd. have negotiated with a certam concern which will invest
over half a million pounds in the Bank. Both parties agree that a responsible banking
institution in the United Kingdom should serve as managing. agents of the Bank.

"¢ In other words. if you could assist in arranging for a responsible British Bankmg firm
to-accept the managing agency of the Bank on mutually agreeable terms, thén the concernt
which T-réfer to-above-will invest over half.a million pounds to erablé: the: Bank to satisfy

- the requrrements for hcensmg -and:-the Bank then.can. proceed to: dlscharge its- functions- on
thé basis of efﬁmency and integrity. -

- * T'have it on authority that if the: above requxrements arefully complied with, that the
Eastern Government will feel: safe in using the Bank as one of its depositories. Of course;
you apprecrate as well as T do that in the: present circumstances it will be highly improper
for it to-do so; or for me to-insist, directly or indirectly,:that it should doso. Personally, I
feel very strongly about it,and T have made it-clear to my political friends and supporters
that Twill'not-be 4 party to such suggestion.?”

21st Mar ch, 1955,

Mr Blankson wiote to the Financial Sectetary statinig that arrangements ‘have been con-
cluded for the caprta'l of the Bank to be increased to £1m,
“ The understanding recently reachiéd with Mr. John Holt, during his visit to Nigeria
was that on;his return to the United Kingdom he would 1nform us whether it is Martins
- -Bank, Limited, -which will actually.undertake. management of the African Continental
Bank Limited, or Deacons Bank, Limited, with which negotiations are also proceeding,
Terms setting out the conditions under which: British expatrxate personnel are to.be sent
here as Managing Agents are to be made known to us.later.”
‘ A public company has undertaken to invest £750, 000 in cash as soon as arrangements
are-concluded with Mr, Holt i 1n the Umted ngdom
26th March, 1955.
‘Executive Council consrdered a proposal of the Minister of Finance to transfer certain
Government accounts from ‘thie Bank of British West Africa to another bank.
_His Excellency, who presrded said :—
.+ “Was there not, perhaps some mrsunderstandmg For example, was not the rsal aim
"to assist African banks, particularly the African Continental Bank Ltd, And if so, was this
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3
gugéesua’n of dividing the business of Government. between a number of banks the best

way~of helpmg the African. banks. Should not the first step be to take such measures as
would assist the African Continéntal Baiik to obtain a licefice 7"

2nd April, 1955, : ‘

Extraordmary eeting of shareholders of African ‘Continental Bank,, Resolutlons passed
to inérease capital and to sell 784,000 ordmary shares and 93;000 preférence shares to Eastém
Region Finance Corporation at 10 per cent, commission.

Appointment -of four Bank’s:diréctors ‘in accordance  with.terms of Agreement

Dr. Azikiwe and theé' Minister-of Trade met: Mr Young-todiscuss:the proposed grant of
£2 million to the Finance-Corporation; - '
6tlz April, 1955,

Fitst meeting of ‘the Easterii‘Région Fifiance Corporation, Mr. O,uke, thster of. Fmance,
in- attendance, He advises ‘the ‘Finatice Corporation to make the Afrlcan COntmental Bank
thelr bankers and to buy shares.

-Resohition passed--appointing the' African -Continental Bank the Fmance Corporatlon S
bankers. Resolution proposed by Mr. Udoh, seconded by Mr. Okoye, that the Finance Cor-
poration should invest £750,000 in shares. of Afncan Continental Bank carried- unammously.
14th Apkil, 1955. ' ‘

Marketing Board resolved to grant £2 million to the Finance Corporatlon S

Mr. Holt wrote to Dr. Azlkxwe enclosmg in the letter a. report on “X YZ Bank M
20111 April, 1955, ‘ R

~Second meetmg of Finance Corporatlon Mt. Ojike present ' ‘ S

“Tt was therefore agreed that the Corporatxon should 1ns1st that half of the grant or
as-much ofit as possible beé:paid’in cash', o 5
12tk May, 1955. ' ‘

" ‘Meeting between Financial Secrétary and Mr, Blankson M. Blankson stated :—
“ The Finance Corporation had decided to take up £3 million of share capital in the
Bank, the nominal capital of which had been raised to £1 million. Negotlatlons for an
investment from 4 United: Kingdom: $ource had therefore not ‘been pursued-. . .2
The Financial Secretary said he was interested to hear of these developments and that
éh%l;; was no possibility of a licence being issued to the Bank until the futire was far more
efinite,

Finance Corporation wrxte to ‘Mr. Blankson asking him to come to a meetmg on the
23rd. May,(later chianged:to 19th May), bringing documents. .
18th May, 1955.

Meetmg of Ditectors of African Continertal Barik, Ltd.

Resolved. to send Mr. Blankson to London in connectlon with the grant of £2 miltion.
19th May, 1955,

Third meeting of the Finance Corporatton. Mr. Ojike and ‘Mr.. Blankson in attendance.
Some terms of the Agreement discussed, but draft agreement not shown to members, Mr.
Blankson told the Corporation that on the 16th May he received a telegram from Barclays
saying that they would-prefer the Finance Corporation  to open an-account with them directly.
Mr. Ojike suggested: that the Corporation.should send representatives to London, .

Resolved to-send Dr. Mbanugo and Mr. Blankson: to London.

‘It was decided that a letter should be written to the African Continental Bank in imple-
mentation of the. Corporation’s resolufion to invest £750,000.

Tlhtz (lidemorandum and Articles of Association of the African Continental Bank. were
circula e —

. The General Manager noted that .in viey of the large number of shares bemg
purchased by the Finance Corporation, the Corporation would provide the greater ptopor-
tion of directors of the Bank. This matter would be finalised later on.”

20th May 1955,

Agreement exccuted by Dr. Mbanugo and Mr. Blankson Continuation of thl rdimeeting of
Finance.Corporation, ‘ ‘
22nd May, 1955.

The three-year period under the Banking Ordinance expired.
2nd June, 1955,

Minute by his Permanent Secretary to the Minister of Finance :—

, “You will recollect that just before you went on tour I discussed with you the arrange-
ments which were being made which I happenéd to hear about . the Bankthg arrabge-
ments in connection with the £2m, grant by the Marketmg Board .’ Finally, I invité
attention to Executive Council’s conclusion (d) . . . wheré it was declded that you should

. exercise the powers conferred upon you under Ordinance’ only in consultauon with and
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.understand you have issued to-the (;orporatlon to invest £750,000 in.the Contmental Bank
“~X'was not cotisulted-about this at the time or T.would have. drawiy attentlon to thé ‘above
ditective of the Executive Council. I do most strongly urge that you take a very early
opportunity to bring it before the Exco.” S
4th June, 1955, . . R . e e
Mr. Ojike minutes his Permanent Secretary — S e
“ As soon as I know the date of the grant, etc., I shall send a mmemo: to.the Exco,”

16th June, 1953,
Shares issued to Fmance Corporatlon by Afncan Contxnental Bank

21st June, 1955, ' . s

Fourth meeting of the Eastern Region Fmance Corporatxon. Mr. Ojike present.. Corpora—
tion’s directors on African Continental Bank appointed.. Resolved. that. the:second £1 million
of the grant should be realised and proceeds paid into Barclays Bank, London

Letter of 16th June, 1955, from African Continental Bank read, proposmg that- drﬁ'erence
between. £789,300-and £750,000 be: tredted as calls paid in.arrears, - * .41,
Ba %ash for purchase of shares by the Fmance Corporatron recewed by Afrrcau Contmental
20th July, 1955,

Extriaordmary meeting of shareholders of African Continentdl Bank. New. Artlcle 15A
inserted :— :

ST The. founder of thls Compan y (Dr. Nnamdr Azrklwe) shall be the Governmg

Drrecfor and-Chairman during | h]S life-time unless. he. shall fail’ to,hold shares in the Com-

with the approval of the Executive Council . . . far more important is-the: directive w§§

pany to the nominal value of at least £100.’ S
27th July, 1955,
7501:)1&11 meeting of Fmance Corporatlon resolved that 877,000 shares be bought mstead of
131k August, 1955, o | ' ' L h

i The Financial Secretary informed African-Continental Bank that he was prepared to issue

a licence. ,
15th August 1955,

Licence under the Banking Ordinance issued to African Continental Bank

18th August, 1955,
1fkecutrve Council approved a draft ditective to Finance Corporatron teference 1ts lendmg
policy Lo
23rd August; 1955, o o ‘ o
Minister of Finance sent a memorandum to Executive Councrl askmg for approval of grants
to a number of Corporations dnd stated ;—
“ For the information of Council the Finangce- Corporatlon has invested .£850,000.0f the
£2m. made available to it by the Marketing Board.”
24th August, 1955, .
Meeting of Executive Council—excerpt from minutes i~
“ When it was known that the Ministry (of Finance) had: had talks with the Fmance
- Corporation the. fo]lowmg points were-made during the discussion :—

@ It consultatron had taken place with the Finance Corporation, Council was entitled
to know, the views eXpressed by the Corporation. For instance, Council had the right
fo kntog’ in- what companies the sum of £850.000° beIOngmg to this Corporation was
invested.

(i) Atleastthe African Continental Bank and the N.E.M. Co (the Nigerian Engineering
and Manufacturmg Company Ltd.) had benefited from the investments.”

251h August,, 1955,

. Arreass;of Directors’ remuneration pard to the Drrectors of the Afrrcan Continental: Bank,
End of August, 1955,

Dr. Azikiwe leaves Nigeria to visit Europe and the United States.
8th September, 1955. . ,

erth meeting of the Finance Corporation :—

. inrespect of the amendment to Article 15, it was necessary to deﬁne t‘le hfe-trme
of the Govemmg Director. ..
. the meeting could not.understand why the Cbrporatron was not mwted ‘to'the share-
holders’ meeting of the 20th July...” ‘

Decision to enquire into what real-assets the Bank jpossessed.
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Rud
IOtl: September, 1955.

Board mectirig of African Continental Bank. Resolved that Article 15A shall be amended
by striking out, *“(Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe) *’.

10tls November, 1955,
Interview between Mr. Lennox-Boyd, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, and Dr.
Azikiwe in-London.

30th November, 1955.

Extraordinary meeting of the shareholders of the African Continental Bank Article 15A
amended by striking out the words, *“(Dr. Nnamdi Azikiwe) *'.

Dr. Azikiwe returned to Lagos from Europe.

Sth December, 1955. i
Dr. Azikiwe’s Press stitement about his relation withthe Bank:

9th December, 1955. .

Messrs. Akintola Williams- & Co.’s. feport on Afrlczm Con.mental Bdnk’s accounts ‘to
31st.March, 1955,
Banlgr Mbanugo s Press release regarding the mvcstment by the Finance Corporatxon mfthe

16th December, 1955.

Dr. Mbanugo’s broadcast over the Nigerian Broadcasting Service on the purpose and
policy, the functions and achievements, of the Corporation-in fostering the economy of the
Region. He outlined inter alia the conditions governing applications for loans; and the'éxtént of
public control, through the Corporation, over the African Continéntal ‘Bank.

20!/1 March, 1956.

Bill to amend the Eastern Regiorn Devclopment Corporation dissolving theé ’Fmance
Corporation and vesting its assets and liabilities in the Eastern Region Development Corpora-
tion, passed into law.

15th April, 1956.
Mr. Eyo’s letter of resignation as Chairman of the Eastern Region Development Corpora-
tion sent to Dr. Azikiwe.

19th April, 1956. '
Mr. Eyo first refers to Dr. Azikiwe and the African Contineatal Bank in a Press release,

Sth May, 1956.

Copy of Mr. Eyo’s letter to Dr. Azikiwe containing allegations against Dr. Azikiwe sent'to
Sir Clement Pleass and the Nigerian Press.

17th May, 1956,
Mzr. Eyo’s-motion sentto the Clerk of the Eastern House of Asscmbly

20th June, 1956.
Mr. Eyo resigned as Chief Whip.

Writ of Summons against Mr. Eyo applied for.
Exccutive Council considers Mr. Eyo's ‘metion,—excerpt’from minutes of the meeting :—

“ The ‘brief prepared by the Minister of Finance showed that the approval’ of the
Corporation’s decision was given on the pérsonal authority of the Minister: of Finance
(issucd from onc of the Minister’s personal files, and not'a*‘Ministry file) thhout the prior
sanctign or knowledge of the Executive Council. Thdt was so; for if‘the matter had been
brought to Council, it would have been suggested that so much money should tot be
deposited ormvcswd in the bank.”

Executive Couricil also considered draft'White Paper on Banking and Finance in Eastern
Nigeria, containing, inter alia, an explanation of the Role of the Premier in connection %mth the
investment and deposit of publlc funds in the African: Continental:Bank, -designed to- answcr
criticism which had been voiced, having regard to his connection with the Bank,

26th June, 1956.
Debate on Mr. Eyo’s motion ruled out of order by the Speaker on thc ground that the
subject matter was sub judice.

6th July, 1956,
Writ issued and served on Mr, Eyo.

4th August, 1956,
Tribunal of Inquiry appointed by the Sécretary of State for the Colomes.
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APPENDIX C
African Continental Bank. Ltd.

Shareholders at 31st March, 1955,

‘Nominal ‘Paid up Unpaid or uncalled
8 per cent. Cumulanve Pr efer ence Shares £1 each :
‘Ojukwu, L. P, .. .. .. . .. .. 2,000 150 1,850
Wachuku, J. A, . ‘e . 1,000 100 900
4 Shareholders under 250 shares .. . . ’340 149 191
59 Sharcholders under 250 shares .. . ve . 2 971 2 971 —_
£6,311 £3,370 £2,941
Ordindry Shares £1 each—Directors and their families : L o
Azikiwe, N, .. . . . .. . 28,000 1,550 26,450
Azikiwe, O. C. .. 4,000 755 3, 1245
Arinze, Mrs. C. E. 4,000 605 3 395-
Armze, MissE. O. .. .. .. 4,000 200 3,800
« Arinze, Miss V. 1. “ e o 4,000 200 3,800
) Nwosisi, J. O. .. . . . 100 — 100
bt Okonkwo, F. E. 1,000 1,000 —
Blankson, A. K. 2,100 205 ] 1,895 }
47,200 —_— 4,515 — 42,685
Zik Group 4 Lo
Zik Enterpnses Ltd. . - . . . . 49,900 14,500 35,400
Nigetian Commodities Lid. .. . .. . 4,000 4,000 —_
Afrxcan Book-Co, Ltd. . . , 2,000 100 1,900
ngernan Paper Co. Ltd. . 2,600 100 1,900
Nigerian-Printing-Supply Ce. Lt 2,000 1060 1 900
59,900 —— 18,800 —_— 41,100
Others :
Makenjuola, A. O. . .o . . 3,250 — 3,250
Ita, Eyo .. . . o . e ' . 200 10 150
Udenta, E. U, .. ‘e . .. . . 100 60 40 _
3,550 e 70 e 3,480*
Opufou, T. E. .. . . ‘ 100\/ 1,000 —
Ugochukwu, M, N, . . . 1, 2000 1,000 —
8 Sharcholders under 250 shares .. .. e e '575 181 394 &
34 Shareholders under 350 shares . ‘e . 2,710 2,710 - &
£115,935 £28,276 £87,659 =

* Subsequently paid between 31st March, 1955, and 31st July, 1956,
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APPENDIX D

[
T
African Continental Bank, Ltd.. o
Shareholders at 31st July, 1956,
"Nominal ‘Paid up Unpaid or uncalled
8 per cent. Gumulative. Preference Shares :
Ojukwuy, L. P, ., 2,000 150 1,850
Wachuku, J. A, 1,000 100 900
4 Sharceholders uader 250 shares 340 149 191
59 Sharcholders undc. 250 shares 2,971 2,971 —_
Eastern Region Finance Corporation 93,000 93,000 —_—
A £99,311 £96,370 £2,941
)
Ordinary. Shares— Directors and their families : '
Azikiwe, N. .. .. 28,000 1,550 26,450
Azikiwe, O, C. . 4,000 755 3,245
Arinze, Mrs. C. E 4,000 605 3,395
Annze, Miss E. O. 4,000 200 3,800
Arinze, Miss'V. 1. . .. . .. .. .. .. 4,000 200 3,800
Nwosisi, J. 0. .. e .. .. .. . .. - 100 _ 100
Okonkwo, F. E. 1, 1,000 1,000 _—
Blankson, A K. .. .. .o e .. e 2,100 . 205 . 1,895
—_— 47,200, —_— 4,515 —— 42,685
Zik- Gfoup )
Zik Enterprises Ltd. .. 49,900 14,500 35,400
Nigerian Commodities Ltd. 4,000 4,000 —
Africani Book Co. Ltd. .. . 2,600 - 100- 1,900:
Nigeridn-Paper-Co. Ltd. . ‘e ---2,000- -100-- - - 1,900-
Nigerian Printing Supply Co. Ltd. 2,000 . 100 1,900
— .. 59,900 _ 18,800 —_— 41,100

House of Commons Parliamentary Papers Online.
Copyright (c¢) 2006 ProQuest Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved.



Others :

Makenjuola, A. O. 3,250 3,250 —
Ita, Eyo .. .. . 200 200 —
quntg;ﬁ' U' o . .. 100 100 -
Opufou, T. E. .. .. .. 1,000 1,000 —
‘Ugochukwu; M. N, .. .. 1,000 1,000 -
8 Sharcholders under 250 shares .. 575 181 394
:34' Shareholders:under 350 shares .. 2,760 2,760 — : o
: : : : —_— 8,885 = 8,491 e 394
Eastern Region Finance Corporation 784,000 784,000 —_—
899,985 815,806 84,179
Total £999,296 £912,176 £87;120
Lh
AL
=
L
QA
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APPENDIX E

African Continental Bank, Ltd. o
~
Condensed Balance Sheets at 31st March, 1950/1956. :53
1950 1951 1952 1953 1954 1955 1956
£ £ £ £ £ £ £
Current Savings and Deposit Accounts 106,724 192,600 443 416 564,584 645,407 713,908 2,198,212
Paid up Capital .. . 9,623 12,311 23,883 30,254 31,081 31,646 911 946([)
116,347 204,911 467,299 594,838 676,488 745,554 3,110,158
Less Accumulated Losses 5,282 12,989 17,044 28,545 34,995 168,483 26! ,343
g 111,065 191,922 450,255 566,293 641,493 577,071 | 2,848,815
Cash in Hand and with Bankers .. 25,503 42,922 72,379 50,978 91,633 80,224 1,991,887
Loans and Advances including Debenture 79, ’350 146 150 373 203A 445,195 22 819 471,874 829,871
Investments (in companies of the Zik Group) 2 850 2, 850 2,850° - 3,500 3, 'S00 | 3,750} 3,750 -
Premises, Furniture, etc. . 362 — (o) — (¢) 3,070 5,394 8,904 16,454
Other Assets less liabilities 3,000 — {0 1,823 63,550 18,147 12,319. 6,853-
111,065 191,922, 450,355 566,293 641,493. 577,071 | 2,848,815
Loss for year before charging : 390(a) 7,707 4,055 11,501 6,450 1,140 342
Bxceptional Debits .. . 4,169(b) _— — —_ —_ 132, ,348(d) 92,518(e)
Liquidity Ratio .. . . . 239 223 1643 9-0 14-2 112 90-6
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Notes 1o APPENDIX E
(a) Profit.
() £4,169 described as Reéserve for Contingencics but subsequently used to-write off Bad Debts.
(@) Included with Loans ahd Advances as the separate item.is not shown in the Balance Sheets for these years.

(d) Provision for Bad-and Doubtful Debts. ... .. e o ..
Expenses less earnings relating to previous years .. . e . “ . .. .. ..
(e) Commission on Issue of Shares . .. . .. . . . . . . .
Expenses of Capital Increase .. . e . . . . . e .
Expenses relating to previous years .. e . . . . . o

Less Bad Debts recovered .. .o e e ‘r . . . e ‘e e

sS

(/) Including new capital amounting to £877,000 invested by the Eastern Region Finance Corporation,
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£132,348

87,700
3,767
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© 93,555

1,037
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APPENDIX F
Summary of Losses and Profits of Companies in the Zik Group for the years 1952-1955.
Brought Issued Deficiency
forward 1952 1953 1954 1955 Total capital or surplus
. £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Zik Enterprises L, .. 36,587 3,902 5,567 2,673 5,880 49,263 19,602 29 661
Nigerian Real Estate Corporauon Ltd. —_— 2,712 1,853 807 1,352 4,020 5,000 ’980
West African Pilot Ltd. . —_ 1 713 2490 2,936 14,775 2] 914 10,000 11,914
African Book Co. Ltd. . . . 1,700(6) 431(b) 432 482 455(b) 3 500 1,000 2 500
@ African News Agency Ltd, . — 41 953 1,634 1,269 3, 1897 1,000 2 897
Associated Newspapers of- N|ger1a Ltd —_ 658 3,740 55 6,041 10,494 5,000 S 494
Comet Press Ltd. . 4,627(a) — —_ 1,816(a) 1,800(b) 8,243 5,000 3, 243
Nigerian Commodities Lid. .. . — 1,719 305 650 158 2, ,832 5,000 2 168
Nigerian Paper Co. Ltd. v R 294 145 124 129 96 240 1,000 ’760
Nigerian Printing Supply Co. Ltd ‘e 894 110 1,304 5,164 5,843 13,095 1,000 12,095
Suburban Transport Ltd. e s — 73 675 ] 767 515 2,030 10,000 7,970
44,102 10,994 17,443 11,509 35,480(c) | 119,528 63,602 55,926

NOTES :—

(@) For the*Comet Press Ltd. the only.-accounts available are a balance sheet dated 3Ist March, 1954, and a profit and loss account-for the period
April/May, 1952, and Ist October, 1953 to.31st March 1954.,

b) Apprommatc ﬁgurcs assumed for purposes of this statement in the absence of any accounts,

ne oy
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APPENDIX G 6 9 7

Despatch from the Secretary of State for the Colonies

“ WAF 39/3/05
Colonial Office,
The Church House,
Great Smith Street,
London, S.W.1.
Ist December, 1951.
Sir,

The occasion of the institution of a Council of Ministers under the Constitutional
Instruments for Nigeria providés a suitable opportunity for me to address you on certain
matters which I regard as being of fundamental importance to the successful working of
the new-Constitution,

2. The General Conference recommended, and His Majesty’s Government agreed,
that the Council of Ministers should consist, under the chairmanship of the Governor,
of six ex-officio members and twelve members drawn from the representatives members
of the House of Representatives, and that nine of the twelve representative members
should be charged with responsibility of varying degrees in respect of the parliamentary
and executive business affecting certain subjects. Provision has been made accordingly
in the relevant Chapter of the Constitution Order-in-Council. Similar provision has been
made for an Executive Council in each Region with a composition including not less
than six (seven in the case of the West) nor more than nine members drawn from the
Regional Legislatures, and for all these members (with the possible exception of three
members in each Region) to discharge specified responsibilities in the Regional Legisla-
ture and Executive.

3. Under these arrangements Representative Members of the Council of Ministers
and of Regional Exccutive Councils will henceforth be responsible for a very great
part of Government business. The Constitution provides that these members, whether
or not they are charged with specific responsibility in respect of certain subjects, will
be styled * Ministers ” .or ‘“ Regional Ministers ”, as the case may be. In the course of
their duties these Ministers, as members of a Council, will be called upon to deal wita
and to take decisions upon a wide variety of subjects touching almost all aspects of the
life of the community ; and situations will no doubt arise from time to time where
they may find that their public duties affect or even conflict with their personal and
private interests. Situations of this nature cbuld arise in a number of ways and I need
mention here only the more obvious contributory factors such as the nature and extent
of a member’s _private business activities, his financial interest in particular companies
or schemes, or his activities and interests as an official of a trade union.

4. There are definite rules governing Ministerial conduct which have been laid down
in the United Kingdom as a result of very long experience and which may be of
assistance in the working of the new Constitution in Nigeria. In the United Kingdom,
certain easily identifiable forms -of misconduct, e.g., disclosure of official secrets and
corruption generally, are the subject of legislation (the Official Secrets Acts and the
Preverition of Corruption Acts). In addition there is a code of ethics prescribed by rules
which have been laid down by successive Governments over a long period. These rules,
which are summarised below, are based on custom and usage of the Constitution, and
any serious infringement of them, even though not punishable by law, would incur the
drastic penaity of dismissal from office.

(a) All' directorships held by Ministers ‘must be resigned except honorary director-
ships and directorships in connection with philanthropic undertakings.

(b) On assuming office, Ministers should cease to hold paid official positions in trades
unions, and should cease from active full-time participation in their affairs.

(c) Ministers ought not to enter into any transactions whereby their private pecuniary
interests might, even conceivably, come into conflict with their public duty.

(d) No Minister is justified in any circumstances in using official information which
comes to him as a Minister for his own private profit or for that of his friends.

(e) No Minister ought to put himself, or allow himself to be put in a position to use
his official influence in support of any scheme or in furtherance of any contract
in regard- to which he has an undisclosed private interest.

(/ No Minister should use his official influence to support the candidature of any
person for admission to or promotion within the Civil Service except that when

a candidate for first appointment is known to him personally there should be
no objection to a Minister giving him a written testimonial.
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- (g)*No Minister ought to accept any kind of favour from persons who are in
“% . . {negotiation with, or seeking to enter into contractual or proprietary or pecuniary

" Telations with the Government. i . N ] _

(k) Ministers should scrupulously avoid speculative investments in securities in
respect of which, from their position and their special means of early or
confidential information, they have, or may have, an advantage over other people
in anticipating market changes. .

() Ministers should not practice journalism while holding office. Exception may be
made of works of a literary, historical, scientific, philosophical or romantic
character.

5. The above rules are by no means exhaustive, but they serve to illustrate the
manner in which, in the United Kingdom, the holders of high public office mn the
service of the Crown are expected and required ‘to. conduct themselves ; and they may
be regarded as “ rulés of obligation , the breach .of which is regarded as exposing, the
Minister to removal from office. Theré are, in addition, certain “ rules of prudence”
which have never been formulated and which it would be very difficult to formulate
in precdise or universal terms. One of these rules, however, is that Ministers should
carefully avoid all transactions such as the acceptance of -gifts of substantial value from
members of the public which can give colour or countenance to the belief that they
are doing anything which the “ rules of obligation * forbid. : :

6. The Nigerian Constitution does not provide for the disqualification for elected
membership -of a Legislative Housé of a -director or manager of a Company which is a.
party to any subsisting. Government contract for or on behalf of the public service. It
is, however, to be eéxpected that when a meinber of a Legislature is under consideration:
for appointment as a Minister, he should, if asked to do so, disclose to the Governor
or Lieutenant-Governor in confidence a full list of his holdings in stocks .and shares
in' all companies whether or not they are at the time parties to Government contracts ;
and, in addition, that he should use the strictest discretion in deciding, in circumstances
where his private interest and ‘his public duty -conflict, whether heé can properly continue
to hold such stocks and shares. Since Ministers are to receive appropriate remunera-
tion from public funds, I consider it reasonable that they should be called upon at the
time of their appointment to divést themselves for their period -of office of any outside
intefests which ‘might conflict with their -public responsibilities, So far as private busi-
nesses and professional practices are concerned, this ruling should in my view be
interpreted as requiring 2 severance of activé connection. In the abserce of local
precedent, -persons considered for appointment as Ministers may require $ome guidance
on this subject. I consider that before the name of any member of a Legislature is put
before the Legislature for approval as a Minister, he should be asked to disclose, in
confidence, details of 'his business or professional interests to the Governor or
Lieutenant-Governor, and it should be for the Governor or Lieutenant-Governor to
exercise his discretion in deciding on the degree of severance of aétive connéction which
will be necessary in- each ¢ase, ) .

7. 1 appreciate that in Nigerian circumstances it may be necessary to take special
accounts of the position of Chiefs and members or officials of Native Authorities who
become Ministers. As their salaries from Native Authority fund$ are paid on account
of local public responsibilities, there should normally bé no conflict ‘between - such
responsibilities and in such casés I would see no objection to their retention of a part
or the whole of their Native Authority salaries on such terms as you may consider
proper.,

8. I would ask that the considerations set out in this Despatch be brought to: the
notice of all members of the Central or Regional Legislatures who come under con-
sideration for appointment to the Council of Ministeis or to Regional Executive
Councils, and I would express the hope that these bodies will find it appropriate to set
out as a statement ¢f policy the adoption of the standards which I have described as
prevailing in the United Kingdom. :

9. Ishall be grateful if you will cause this despatch to be published.

I have thé honour to be,
Sir,
Your most obedient, humble servant,
ALAN LENNOX-BOYD,
(for the Secretary of State)

THE OFFICER ADMINISTERING
THE GOVERNMENT OF NIGERIA
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APPENDIX H 6 9 9

Mr. Saville’s Manuscript Notes taken at the meeting of the Eastern Region Executive
- ‘ Council on the 313¢h December, 1954,
“ E.R:P.D.B. Investments. C-

Az —Shld be Min. of Finance. ‘ ’ :

Ojike - Should be African ‘Continental Bank. Simple memo. To advise H.E.
: under existing Ord. ’ , .

Okpara E.R.P:D.B. to be congratulatéd for this resolution—better late than

never. We know what has happened in other Regions. Surprised the
sum is so small in view of popular opinion. Half a loaf better than no
loaf at all.

‘Even the International Bank is in .favour of giving African Banks
support~—so long as investments: are -not too" large. Think this amount
too small. The E.R.P.D.B. is worth £6,000,000,.Time has come when we
must support the African Banks openly and without apology. I am
prepared to defend this in any forum in the country. ’

Esin If African is to be taught to- manage finance, he must bé given chance
to learn how: Should be more: If A.C:B. has security and is competently
rum, it should be given a-chance.

Imeh - ésls{osi]ajte;3 myself. No-one will' oppose this at all. We must be grateful to

Awgu “The sum is too smiall. I think figuré should be more—should ask
: E.R.P.D.B. to double it. ’

Ojike - We -should approve bt also -in- our decision suggest this should be
. . regarded as token. - o

Emole Agree. Token sum to test feeling of Ex. Co. If they know we approve
= they will propose to-invest £800,000. - -

Okpara Even £1,000,000. .

Esin B.B.W.A. do not give loans to Africans—but to Syrians who contribute

little to us. £1,000,000' would not be too: mmuch:
H. E. Mayne. Am keen on African Bank going ahead like any other Bank. But must
. . -do my -duty: In the first place ‘the Bank-is unlicensed—even though
application.‘made to be licensed. The Bk published its accounts in Feb
this. year in the W.A. Pilot—Feb or March. There was criticism then
from. public. This is a -question: of public confidence. I must be sure, as
you are advising .me, that there is no lack of public confidence.
1 pote your. advice—but I do propose to contact the Banking
Authy—-as understand something/scrutiny ? going on Federal Financial
Sec.. I do- not oppose this. Bt if money did go. wrong—in view of
criticised balance 'sheets. If it .did go- wrong where should we be.

Okpara We should resign—matter of confidence. X

H. E. You all appreciate ‘my duty. There can be no harm done if I consult
Bakng Authy. :

Onubogu No criticism. .

H. E. I must ascertain. fr Bakng Authy—Federal ‘Financial Sec.—if Bank is

suitable for me to .approve. Shall be delighted if I can give approval.

’ Would be wrong for me to approve before being ceriain.

Ojike This Council cannot accept conditional appioval Procedure to notify

- Bakng Authy of decision of Council. The B.R.P.D.B. inform us for

formality’s sake. We consult Bakng Authy for formality’s sake. We
have fiscal aitodony. :

H. E. No one can accusej me of tfying to retard your wishes. Bt to transfer

* large sums of money—I ¢an understand—but 1 miust satisfy myself

that all' i O.K. I'm not opposing—but it is for me to satisfy myself.
I am last ‘pérson to retard what the African wishes—to run own
affairs. I am asked to authorize something of which I am not in my
heart of hearts certain. Must maKe certain week or ten days delay can
‘do no harm. I cannot take things on a chance. If the Bank licence is
approved, all well. If it went down drain I should not have done my
duty to you or Nigeria.

Az The Bank is not licensed. But nothing in the Ord. to prevent it being

a depository of funds, When last in Lagos I saw the Gen Manager of

the Bank. They had interview with Fin. Sec. They wcve given to end of

Jan 1956 to satisfy conditions of Ord. They told Fin. Sec. that it was

theif intention to ask British Bank to take over Managing Agéncy of the
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god

Okpara
H. E
Az

Az
H. E.

Okpara
H. E.

Okpara
H. E.
Az

H. E.

Az
H. E.

Esin
H. E.

Okpara
H. E.

Ojike

H. E.

Akpabio
Az
H. E.

Bank—Do not press me for the name. Two banking orgs. were interested
—one British—the other German. The Af C. Bank chose the British
one so as to avoid international complications. Did not give further
details to Fin. Sec. He gave Bank up to end of Jan to satisfy require-
ments.

Bank cannot come in for penalties until later. Main point—the non-
Ticensing of the Barnk cannot prevent Bank from bécoming financial
depository. If it were no new Bank ever could be licensed. Agency
interested in acquiring both share and loan capital. Fin. Sec. also said
Chartered Accountant must audit accts of Bank. Told so few in this
country and those there were would not help. But in Jan Chartered Acct
will be flown out to audit the accts of the Bank. Even in Int. Bk, Report
only a few weathered the strm then 20 banks failed in 1951-52, 1 did
not want to make statement.

You talked of Bankng Authy.

Fin. Sec.

He grants the licenses.

Banking is a Federal subject. )

Premier has given us assuring news. I know what he says is correct.
But I should get a favourable answer fr Fin. Sec—that there is no
objection. Delay in consulting him can do no harm.

I cannot see the role of Fin, Sec. of Fed. in oppng decision of
ER.P.DB. I see yr pt of view Const psn—he does not enter in.

Once I am satisfied I can feel justified in doing what you ask me. But
I c{c;.gnot do something which will let me in for ? ing down you and the
public. N

Fin. Sec. can do nothing about it, He cannot over-rule E.R.P.D.B.

You must see with me. I am only going to safeguard you. On my head.
'We do not know for certain if Bank is secure—the only question.

Only biassed.newspaper criticism—Express and Service.

I must be sure. I shall not let you down. I shall not fight you.

Even on Board—the meeting held. The same man who attacked Bank
in his paper—Dr. Udoma—attacked it there—and in Service—esp. in
view of £2,000,000 pt by West in National Bank. J. N. Wachuku
abstained. Mr. Guise and D of A opposed—for one hour. Udoma
decided question should be asked in the House—I. have seen them.
Marcus Ubani—we -can answer. If there is debate will do no harm.
Criticism of Bank Report prejudiced, Do safeguard public funds.

I am not a financial wizard, I looked at accts. Perhaps they were all
right, But operated at a loss.

It lost very...? :

I want to safeguard you and I shall do so. I shall not let you down
whatever you do.

Ex Co is unanimous.

Sure it will be all right. What Premier has said resolves many of my
doubts. But you must have confidence in me. I shall not let you down.
If you do not approve eventually, it will not be because Fin. Sec. advises
you. We are your Const. Advisers, ]

I have listened what you say. Unless there is something really fantastic,
1 shall approve. 1 shall not use my reserve powers unless I feel in
honour bound not to do so. All I want to do is to safeguard Ex Co.
Bank nearly 7 years old, Many firms have transacted business and have
not complained. This sum is paltry. It would be out of place for Gov.
to ask Fin. Sec. when Ex. Co. has advised him.

I think Premier sees my point. I am only trying to safeguard you. I '

. am not disappng. I am taking note.

We do not like officials to take views of the Opp—even Sec. to Premier.

He has two loyalties—he has asked to resign fr the Board.

All T want is to do is to be certain—only a question of a fortnight or
so. I stick by my guns.

Council advises H. E. to approve.”

(Note:—“ Az refers to the Premier, Dr. Nnamdi Asikiwe.)
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APPENDIX J

(01

Financial Secrétary’s report to Mr. C.-J. Mayne; the Gtﬁcer Admini'_ste'ring the
Government, Eastern Region, made in December, 1954,

“SECRET
AFRICAN CONTINENTAL BANK LID.

Thé Acting -Governor; Enugu, seeks advice on the stability of the African Con-
tinental Bank and asks for a report on the bank from the Financial Secretary of the
Federation. The request arises from a Resolution passed by the Eastern Regional Produc-
tion Development Board to the effect that the Board should open current and fixed
deposit accounts with the bank at Enugu.

2. Under thé Banking Ordinance No. 15 of 1952, the Financial Secretary is the
licensing authority of the banking companies—section 6. Every banking company is
_ required to furnish certain returns to the Financial Secretary—section 11. Every banking
company shall maintain an adequate degree of liquidity and the Financial Secretry is
empowered to require a banking company to furnish certain statements in this connec-
tion—section 8.

3. The Eastern Regional Production Development Board operates under Ordinance
No. 27 of 1951, It is an autonomous body—section 3. The funds and resources of the
Board are by way of grant from the Marketing Boards ; sums appropriated by any
vote of the legislature or by resolution of the legislature ; the moneys earned from
investments and by sums which become payable in respect of any matter incidental to
its functions, powers and duties—section 22. The investment of funds requires the
approval of the Governor—section 2.1.

4. In view of the above it seems to me that my proper course is to give facts in
the form of a report under-confidential cover.

5. The facts are as follows:—
(i) That the African Continental Bank has not been licensed under the Ordinance ;

(ii) That the African Continental Bank applied for a licence on the 30th of August,
1952 and was informed on the 9th September, 1952 that the Financial Secretary
was unable to consider the grant of a licence for the present.

(iii) That the bank was informed on the 13th of October, 1953 that prior to the issue
of a licence the following would be required: —

(a) an increase in the cash liquidity ratio to at least 30 per cent. within the
next six months ;

(b) adequate evidence of the current value of the Bank’s investments, including
the jatest audited balance sheets of the companies in which the Bank held
shares or debentures ; :

(c) a copy of the latest audited balance sheet of the bank ; .

(d) a complete reconciliation of the Inter-Branch Account which at the 30th

~ June, 1953 stood at £68,336 ;

(e) a formal inspection of the books and documents of the Bank.

(iv) That there have been 5 interviews and 2 letters since the 13th October, 1953
 and that as regards (iii) above: —

(a) the liquidity ratio: the last return showed virtually no improvement and
this still remains at 8.6 per cent.
(b) the value of investments: the evidence sought has not yet been produced ;
(c) the balance sheet to the 31st March, 1954 has not yet been received ;
(d) the unreconciled balance. of the Inter-Branch Account has been reduced to
about £9,000 and will probably have to be written off ;
(e) the suggestion that the Bank should call in a reputable firm of chartered
accountants to report on its affairs has not yet been acted upon.
As regards the liquidity ratio which has varied from 8.3 per cent. to 14.1 per cent.
over the period, the Bank have been informed that the “ danger low” in the United
Kingdom is considered to be 30 per cent. (at the present time it is 34 per cent).

6. The balance sheet to the 31st March, 1953, which was published in the press on
the 25th of February, 1954 indicated (o the Financial Secretary that the Bank requires
further capital and the Bank has been so advised.
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o1 Om the 8th December the General- Manager of the Bank saw the Financial
Segre;tgfg and stated that negotiations were now near to finality for the amalgama-
tion ‘of ‘the Bnk with a U.K. bapking house. This atrangement would involve a
large injection of U.K. capital and a full audit by a UX. firm of chartered accoun-
tants, appointed by the U.K. banking institution, would be -carried out. Representatives
of this firm would begin work in Nigeria in January next and the General Manager was
prepared to state categorically that there would, by the end of January, 1955, be a
large increase in the paid up .¢apitall of the Bank -sifficient to put it on a thoroughly
sound footing. The Financial Secretary stated he was prepared to accept the promises
made and he. looked forward to receiving next January evidence that the Bank’s affairs
had been restored to health. as a result of the pending reorganisation.”
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APPENDIX K
African Continental Bank, Limited.
Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 1955, -

£ s d. £ s. d. £ s. d. £ s. d.

SHARE CAPITAL : CasH IN HAND AND BALANCES WITH BANK-
Authorised : . ERS .. ‘e .. .. .. .. 80,224 4 4
50,000 8 per cent. Cumulative Prefer- LoANS AND ADVANCES. TO CUSTOMERS .. 266,873 18 9
ence Shares of £1 each .- .. 30,000 0 0O INVESTMENTS at cost : ’
200,000 Ordinary Shares of £1 each .. 200,000 0 0 Debentures .. .o .. .. 205000 0 O
~ . - 250,000 0 0 Other Investments. . .. .. .. 3750 0 0 :
Issued : - , , : 208,750 0 0
6,311 8 per cent. Cumulative Preferénce FUSRNIT URE, EQUIPMENT AND STATIONERY
Sharesof £1each .. .. .. 6311 0 0 TOCK it cost loss abmoints writton off 8,049 7 11
ZLess Calls in Arrears 2941 0 0 PREMISES at cost less amounts written off .. 85 0 O
: ' T o 3370 0 0 SUSTOMERS' LIABILITB FOR AZCXCEPTANCES’. . - 1,298 6 3
115,935 Ordinary Shares of £1 each .. 115935 0 0 REPAYMENYS AND OTEER ACCOUNTS In-
Less Calls in Arrears . : 87.659 0 0 cludmg"x Inter-tBranch and Savings Sus- 838
28,276 0 0 pense Accounts .. .. 18,380 8 10
T~~~ PrOFIT AND Loss ACcouNTt including Bad
. 31646 0 O Debts written off and Provision for :
o CURRENT, SAVINGS AND DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS . 713.907 19 ¢  Poubtful Debts .. .. .. .. 168,482 15 10
@ ACCEPTANCES FOR ACCOUNT OF CUSTOM- : .
MERS . .. .. .. .. -+ 1,298 6 3
ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS 6,061 16 2
(Sgd.). O. C. AZIKI_WE} ‘ .
- (Sgd.) 3. O. NWOSISI [ Directors.
(Sgd.) A. K. BLANKSON,
- General Manager., '
(Sgd.). COLIN OBIH,
Chief Accountant, . . ——
£752914 1 11 £752,914 1 11

We report that we have audited the above Balance Sheet and have obtained all the information-and explanations. which we have required for the
purposes of our audit. Proper books of account have been kept and satisfactory returns have been received from those branches not visited by-us.

Owing to inadequate accounting control prior to 1st April, 1954, discrepancies have arisen over a number of years in some-of the Inter-Branch Accounts
and as between Savings Control Accounts and Savings Ledger Balances .in: so far as the Lagos and Yaba Branches are concerned. These discrepancies,
amounting to £11,263 12s. 54. in the case of Inter-Branch Accounts and £4,946 14s. 3d. in the case of Savings Accounts, have been included as Suspense
Accounts in the item * Prepayments and Other Accounts ”, appearing on this Balance Sheet. . 7 . )

Subject to the foregoing remarks, in our opinion and to the best of out information and according to the explanations given to us, the Balance Sheety\p
which is in agreement with the Books of Account and the Returns from Branches, is properly prepared so as to exhibit a true and fair view of the state o&m

affairs of the Bank as at 31st March, 1955. . '
Lagos, Nigeria, (Sgd.) AKINTOLA WILLIAMS & CO.,, Auditors, (T
9th December, 1955. CharteredﬂAccountants. ‘
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APPENDIX X (continued)
African Continental Bank, Limited.

Profit and Loss Account for the Year to 31st March, 1955,

£ s d £

I

s, d.
Staff Salaries and Allowances o . 17,393 17 7 Commission, Dlscount and Exchango Rc-
Directors’ Fees . . . . 1275 0 0 ceivable
Printing and Stataonery . o .. 2,652 2 11 Interest Receivable . .
Interest on.Deposits .. .. . . 6,076 4 4 Rents Receivable .. .
Rents and Rates . . . .. 3,661 12 6 Net Loss for the year carried down
Legal Charges . . .o .. 927 17 5
Audit Fees.and Expenses .. ‘e o 1,080 0 0
Other Charges and Expenses ‘e ‘e 4378 14 6
£37,445 9 3
iBalancc brought forward from prevnous Income earned prior to Ist April, 1954 not
“'year . .. . . 34995 4 8 previously brought into account.
Bad Debts written off .. .. 76,629 14 8 Balance, being Loss, carried forward in
Provision for Doubtful Debts . 51,961 8 11 Balance Sheet . .. .
Expenses incurred prior to Ist Apnl 1954
not prewously brought into account :
Directors’ Fees per Note (@) .. .. 2,700 0 O
Audit Fee per Note () .. . .. 210 0 O
Other Charges and Expenses .. .. 1,214 16 11
—_—— 4,124 16 11
167,711 5 2
Net Loss for the year brought down .. 1,140 0 O
- £168,851 5 2

NoTEs :
(a) Directors’ Fees of £2,700 Os. 0d. relate to the three ycars 1st April, 1951 to 3Ist March, 1954.
(b) Audit Fee of £210 0s. 0d. is in respect of the audit carried out for the year to 31st March, 1954,
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£

s, d,

£ s. d.

6,797 1 11
28, '841 510

'666 15 6
1,140 0 0

JE——
£37,445 9 3

68 9 4
168,482 15 10

£168851 5 2



APPENDIX L

African Continental Bank, Lid.

Condensed Balance Sheets 31/3[55 and 31]7(56.

765

31st March,

31st July,
1955 1956 Increase
. £ £ £

Customers’ Deposits :

Demand .. 635,554 1,889,783 1,254,229

Time 78,354 164,525 86,171

713,908 2,054,308 1,340,400

Paid up Capital . 31,646 912,176 880,530

Less accw.nulated loss to date 168,483 252,411 83,928

136,837 659,765 796,602

£577,071 | £2,714,073 | £2,137,002

Cash.on Hand 59,664 505,345 445,681
Balance with Bankers

Demand .a 31,471 302,623 271,152

Time — 400,000 400,000

Loans and overdrafts mcludmg dcbcnturcs 471,874 1,431,217 959,343

Investments . .- 3,750 3,750 —

Bank Premises . 855 27,437 26,582

Other assets less liabilities . . 9,457 43,701 34,244

£577,071 | £2,714,073 | £2,137,002
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APPENDIX M

P
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oo,
e
%

Summary of Expenditure 1955(56...

Eastern Region Finance ‘Corporation.

Balance with
) Rate . African
Particulars { of Amount | Continental
interest | Bankat
. 31/7/56
1 Per cent. £ £
Investment : )
African Continental Bank, Ltd. —_ 789,300 —
Grants : o
E.R, Library Board . . .. —_ 35,000 28,848
_ E.R. Information Servxce .. —_ 100,000 89 707
E.N. Sports-Commission — 50,000 50,000
E.R. Economic Planning Comnnssxon — 15,000 15,000
© 200,000 |
Loans :
Nigerian-Engineering and. Manufacturmg Co. Ltd 6 100,000 13,781
Eastern General Contractors Ltd. 6 25,000 —
African Pioneer Co, Ltd, .. .. 6 10,000 -
F. O. Mbadiwe & Sons, Ltd. 6 5,000 —
E. C. 1. Onuigbo Sons & ‘Co, Ltd, . 6 10,000 - —
Eastern Produce and Transport Co. Ltd.. 6 10,000 | —
E.R. Pharmdceutical Corporation 43 22,000 | —_
] 28,000 24,980
L. O. Okoro & Co. Ltd. 6 10,000 —
Jinco Brothers Ltd, . 6 3,000 - —_
Z. C. Obi Sons.& Co. Ltd 6 7,000 | —
Okereke Brothers. Ltd, 6 10,000 71 —
Africa Trading Co: Ltd. 6 - 2,000 . —_
Cinema Corporation of Nigeria 4% 100,000 99,386
E.N, Printing Corporation . ; 4% 200,000 199,916
Tourist Cofporation of” \ngeua 4% 100,000 —
Eastern Civil Engineering Co. Ltd. 6 4,800 —
Affa Local Goverament-Council .. 3 3,000 —
E.R, Developmerit Corporation 34 150,000 150,000
799,800.
Miscellaneous Expenses — 25,104 —_
Bank Charges . —_— 3,179 —
Balance at Bank — 182,617 182,617
£2,000,000 £854,236
Current Accounts .. —_— — 648,244
Savings Account (Interest at 2 per cent p. a subject
to maximum of £5) . _— — 105,992
Fixed Deposit for 1 year at 2 per cent p. a — — 50 000
Fixed Deposit for 6 months at 1 per cent. p. a. .. — — 50 000
£854,236
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